
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 
K. Miles 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the  Strategy and Resources Committee will be held as a Virtual – Online 
meeting on TUESDAY, 1ST SEPTEMBER, 2020 at 10.00 am. 
 
Members of the Strategy and Resources 
Committee 

Councillor Worden (Chair) 

 
Councillors Barker, Leaver, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear, Wilkinson 
and Yabsley + one vacancy. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Virtual meeting procedure - briefing and etiquette   

 Chair to report. 
 

2.   Apologies for absence   

3.   To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2020 
(attached).  (Pages 5 - 16) 

4.   Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by 
the meeting as a matter of urgency.   

5.   Declarations of Interests.   

  

6.   To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted 
Information).   

PART 'A' 

7.   Performance and Financial Management Quarter 1 of 2020/21  (Pages 17 - 48) 

 Report by Head of Resources (attached). 
 

8.   Treasury Management Annual Report 2019/20  (Pages 49 - 58) 

 Report by Chief Financial Officer (attached). 
 

9.   Approval and Release of Section 106 Public Open Space Funds - South 
Molton and Combe Martin  (Pages 59 - 62) 

 Report by Project, Procurement and Open Space Officer (attached). 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
2 

 

 

10.   Urgent Decisions Taken by the Chief Executive  (Pages 63 - 66) 

 To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in 
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached). 

 

11.   Seven Brethren - Agreeing a Way Forward  (Pages 67 - 168) 

 Report by Regeneration Manager (attached). 
 

12.   Batsworthy Noise Compliance Issues Update   

 Head of Environmental Health and Housing to report.   
 

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 
 
 

24.08.20 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is 
respected.  
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place and a reminder will be issued at the 
commencement of virtual meetings. 

 
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording 

if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting 
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should 
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. In a virtual 
meeting the public will be excluded from the meeting while in Part B. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that 

agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can 
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the 
earliest opportunity. Public contributions to virtual meetings will be recorded, 
unless, at the Chair’s discretion, recording is deemed in appropriate in accordance 
with point 2 above. 

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk. 



 
 

 
4 

 

 
 

 



 

Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Virtual - Online 
meeting on Monday, 3rd August, 2020 at 10.00 am 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor Worden (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Barker, Lane, Leaver, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, 

Prowse, L. Spear, Wilkinson and Yabsley 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Chief Executive, Head of Resources, Lead Officer - Planning Policy, 
Senior Solicitor/Monitoring Officer, Senior Regeneration Officer, 
Head of Environmental Health and Housing, Accountancy Services 
Manager, Head of Place, Project and Procurement Officer and 
Planning Policy Officer 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillors Mackie, D. Spear, Tucker and York 
 
   
 

154.   VIRTUAL MEETING PROCEDURE - BRIEFING AND ETIQUETTE 
 

The Chair outlined the virtual meeting procedure and etiquette to the Committee and 
attendees. 
 
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed the Members and 
Officers that were present at the meeting. 

155.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

There were no apologies for absence received. 

156.   TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 6 JULY 2020 (ATTACHED). 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2020 
(circulated previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by 
the Chair. 

157.   ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE 
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A 
MATTER OF URGENCY. 
 

(a) Parkwood Leisure 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
2 

 

The Chief Executive advised that an urgent decision had been taken in April 2020 to 
pay Parkwood Leisure £40,000 towards losses they had incurred due to government 
restrictions imposed on leisure centres due to the COVID 19 pandemic.  Parkwood 
Leisure had submitted a further request for financial support for the month of May for 
a similar amount.  Parkwood had incurred costs during the closure for running costs 
and had requested £48,000.  The request was received too late for inclusion on the 
agenda.  There was national support for leisure providers and other Local Authorities 
were paying grants of a larger amount. The Head of Resources had reviewed the 
costs and it was recommended that with the Committee’s support a further urgent 
decision be taken to award £40,000 to Parkwood Leisure.  He was unable to confirm 
whether any further requests for funding would be received from Parkwood Leisure.  
The dry facilities were now open and the swimming pools would be re-open in 
September. 
 
The Committee supported the Chief Executive in taking an urgent decision to award 
£40,000 to Parkwood Leisure to cover losses experienced in the month of May due 
to Covid 19.  

158.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS. 
 

The following declaration of interest was announced: 
 
Councillor Worden Item 11 – personal interest as a member of 

South Molton Town Council 

159.   PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT QUARTER 4 
2019/20 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Resources (circulated previously) 
regarding the Performance and Financial Management Quarter 4 2019/20. 
 
The Accountancy Services Manager highlighted the following: 
 

 The revenue budget for 2019/20 was approved at Council on 25 February 
2019 at £12,518,000 and as at 31 December 2019, the Council was reporting 
a net surplus of £6,000 against the budget. 

 As at 31 March 2020 the final outturn position was a budget surplus of 
£241,000, which was an overall movement of £235,000 from the latest 
forecast at quarter 3.  The reasons for the movement were detailed in 
Appendix A of the report. 

 The original budget for 2019/20 included a forecast to achieve £214,000 worth 
of salary vacancy savings.  This was exceeded by £31,000 giving an overall 
actual saving of £245,000. 

 A review of procedures and processes within Works and Recycling was 
carried out at quarter 2 and we set targeted spend in respect of the vehicle 
workshop, challenging resources across all Works and Recycling services 
and to reduce sickness levels. As a result of these changes we factored in a 
targeted reduction in overtime and agency costs within the quarter 2 
projections.  The quarter 3 position forecast a net deficit position of £312,000 
for the services, the outturn position has shown this deficit to increase by a 
further £57,000 in the final quarter due to further pressure on employees, 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
3 

 

vehicle costs and tipping charges. However, the level of overspend seen in 
the final quarter, some of which would have been impacted by events of the 
last 2 weeks of March, was around 50% the level of budget variance seen in 
the first three quarters. 

 As at 31 December 2019 additional Business Rates income was forecast of 
£200,000.  The outturn position improved on this by a further £6,000 with 
overall business rate growth of £206,000. 

 As at 31 March 2020 the Collection Fund reserve balance was £732,620.  
This was a healthy balance which provided some protection against future 
volatility. 

 From the revenue budget surplus of £240,615, it was proposed to set aside 
this amount into earmarked reserves as detailed in paragraph 4.1.8 of the 
report. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic has had, and will continue to have a considerable 
impact upon the Council.  The government’s lockdown announced on 23rd 
March 2020, had meant that many businesses have been forced to close, 
significantly impacting on the local economy and upon sources of core income 
to the Council.  In addition the Council had incurred additional expense 
ensuring the most vulnerable in our community were cared for, the homeless 
were kept safe during this period and ensuring that key front-line services 
such as collecting waste and recycling were maintained throughout the crisis. 

 These additional costs have not had a dramatic impact on the financial outturn 
for 2019/20 as the pandemic only started to make a notable impact upon the 
public and businesses in the last two weeks of March.  The impact was being 
felt with losses across major income sources such as parking, commercial 
waste, planning fees and income from our pannier market, together with 
reductions in the collection of taxation income from council tax and business 
rates. 

 As part of closing the year-end accounts for 2019/20 we looked at the amount 
of debt outstanding to the Council and have reviewed the level of bad debt 
provision made and increased some areas of the provision to ensure that we 
prudently make provision for any impact from the pandemic.  Any such 
increased provision cost was accounted for within the 2019/20 accounts and 
included within the overall outturn surplus shown in this report.  Of course, it is 
early days in terms of the recovery and these provisions are estimates; 
however they will be monitored ongoing through this year and reported as part 
of in-year monitoring as the true scale of its impact on the Council’s finances 
will be felt during 2020/21. 

 Appendix B “Movement in Reserves and Balances” detailed the movements 
to and from earmarked reserves in 2019/20. 

 Appendix C “Strategic Contingency Reserve” detailed the movements and 
commitments. 

 Appendix D “Capital Programme 2019/20”.  The revised Capital Programme 
was £8,127,275.  Actual spend on the Capital Programme for 2019/20 
financial year was £5,453,943.  The variance against the budget of 
£8,127,275 is (£2,673,332); all of which would be carried forward into the 
2020/21 Capital Programme to fund on-going projects.  In order to pay for the 
£5,453,943 capital investment the Council funded this from £3,976,541 
received from external sources in the form of grants and other assistance, 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
4 

 

£604,986 of internal resources held specifically for capital projects, £328,655 
from capital receipts and £543,761 from internal borrowing. 

 Appendix E “Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 Project under spends of £2,673,332 from 2019/20 year were brought forward 
to produce a revised Capital Programme for 2020/21 year of £15,295,360; 
2021/22 financial year of £10,739,664 and the 2022/23 financial year of 
£2,701,570.    

 Further variations of £715,224 were proposed to the 2020/21 to 2022/23 
Capital Programme as detailed in paragraph 4.4.8 of the report. 

 The Programme of £29,451,818 is funded by Capital Receipts / Borrowing 
(£14,844,331), External Grants and Contributions (£12,035,158) and 
Reserves (£2,572,329). 

 Once the funds had been included within the Capital Programme the 
Constitution required a separate decision to release those funds.  The 
schemes detailed in paragraph 4.4.14 detailed the schemes where funds 
needed to be released so that funding could start within the following three 
months. 

 Treasury Management (paragraph 4.5) and Debt Management (paragraphs 
4.6 and 4.7) of the report. 

 Appendix F “Service Plan Performance Indicators”. 
 
In response to questions, the Head of Resources advised the following: 
 

 It was disappointing that the overspend for the Waste and Recycling service 
had continued.  The income was volatile.  Work was being undertaken with 
managers in relation to reducing the level of sickness absence.  Work was 
also being undertaken to review the infrastructure such as the delivery of the 
vehicle fleet and workshop and to make the process as efficient as possible.  
It was important that the service infrastructure was stable prior to 
consideration of rolling out the three weekly collection of residual waste. 

 The number of vehicles held under the operators licence had increased from 
48 to 61 to ensure that the correct level was being held in line with the number 
of vehicles.  There were no additional costs to this element. 

 The remaining budget for the Watersports Centre was £1.3m as detailed in 
Appendix E which was over two financial years.  The original budget was 
£1.5m with funding secured from the Coastal Communities fund.  The costs 
for building the centre at Larkstone was now estimated to be nearer £2.8m..  
The Council had submitted a funding bid to the Local Enterprise Partnership 
for further government funding two weeks ago and was awaiting the outcome.  
If the bid was unsuccessful, then other options would be explored to make the 
project viable.  The project needed to be viable in both revenue and capital 
expenditure.  Once the funding was in place, then the Council would seek to 
deliver the project in the most economic and viable way and mitigate the 
concerns that had been previously raised. 

 Even though the Council had a positive financial outcome for the year 
2019/20, the Council faced unprecedented financial pressures for this and 
future financial years. The Government had awarded funding of just under 
£1.2m to the Council towards additional cost pressures.  The Government had 
also recently made an announcement regarding fees and charges income and 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
5 

 

the Council was awaiting further technical guidance.  The Council have 
experienced significant loss in income areas such as car parks revenue and 
are anticipating losses in collection of Council Tax and Business Rates.  The 
Council was continuing to lobby the Government regarding further financial 
contributions as opposed to spreading the taxation losses over a three year 
period.  As soon as confirmation had been received the budget and Medium 
Term Financial Plan would be revised and brought to Members.   

 Many service plan deadlines had been revised and extended as a result of the 
Covid19 pandemic.   

 
In response to a question, the Head of Place advised the following: 
 

 Deadlines for actions P PBP 05 19/20, CE P 02 18/19 and CEP 07 17/18 had 
been extended to dates in 2021/22.  He would review the completion dates to 
ensure that the dates were accurate and that actions were delivered as soon 
as practical.  

 
In response to a question, the Chief Executive advised: 
 

 That the Corporate Plan would be refreshed following the outcomes of the 
Peer Review.  The Plan would then filter down to service plans.  Members 
would have the opportunity to work with officers from October 2020 onwards 
and the service plans would be presented to Committee early next year. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the actions being taken to ensure that performance is at the 

desired level be noted; 
 

(b) That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves as detailed in 
paragraph 4.2 be approved; 
 

(c) That the movements on the Strategic Contingency Reserve as 
detailed in paragraph 4.3 be noted; 
 

(d) That funds be released for the capital schemes listed in paragraph 
4.4.14; 
 

(e) That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (paragraph 
4.5) and Debt Management (paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7) be noted. 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
 
(f) That Council approve the variations to the Capital Programme 

2020/21 to 2022/23 in paragraph 4.4.8. 

160.   NORTH DEVON LAUNCHPAD 2030 - COVID 19 RECOVERY 
STRATEGY 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
6 

 

The Chair advised that an updated report had been published prior to the meeting 
today which contained some minor amendments.  He advised the Committee that 
the meeting would adjourn following item 9 for a short period to enable Members the 
opportunity to read the document. 

161.   NORTH DEVON COUNCIL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 2020 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Climate Action Team, Environment and 
Climate Change Lead Members and Head of Place (circulated previously). 
 
Councillors Leaver and Pearson as Lead Members presented the report to the 
Committee and highlighted the following: 
 

 The background and reasons for producing a draft Environment Policy.   

 The draft Policy had been based on the Stroud policy. 

 It was a statement of intent and would underpin the environment management 
policy and actions for the Council. 

 Tough targets had been set, however these would be reviewed every two 
years.  Any targets set for greater than 10 years would not be achieved. 

 Other Councils had achieved progress as dedicated officers had been 
appointed. 

 
Steve Pitcher and Taz Pollard (members of the public) addressed the Committee. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that the appointment of officers was the responsibility of 
the Head of Paid Service and therefore recommendation 2.1 (e) would need to be 
amended to recommend the appointment to the Head of Paid Service.  He 
expressed concern regarding the target date of the Council becoming carbon neutral 
as an organisation by 2025 as it would raise expectations of the public.  The Council 
had competing priorities with an ever reducing pool of funds and there was a need 
for the Council to continue to deliver its services.  4 ½ years to become carbon 
neutral would be extremely difficult to achieve.  It would be difficult to know where 
the target was achievable until an Environment/Climate Change Officer was in post.  
The post could be funded from within an existing budget.  The Devon Climate 
Change Declaration was originally 2050, but had now been revised to 2030.  If the 
2025 target was adopted there would be a need for the Council to change its 
priorities and make cuts in other areas to achieve the target.  Devon County Council 
had officers in place working on the Devon Climate Change Declaration. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the North Devon Council Environmental Policy 2020 

(Appendix A) be approved for consultation and engagement 
purposes subject to the consultation being made clear with the  
inclusion of “the Council aspires to achieve net zero carbon 
neutral as soon as practically possible and prior to 2030”; 
 

(b) That the Environmental Policy be brought back to Committee 
for adoption after a six week consultation period and subject to 
any amendments that result; 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
7 

 

 
(c) That the Head of Paid Service be recommended to create a 

temporary post of Environment/Climate Change Officer to 
support the implementation of the Environmental Policy 2020 
and development and delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan, 
including Climate Action Plan; 
 

(d) That all Council services identify representatives to sit on an 
Environmental Project team. 

162.   ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING 
 

RESOLVED that it being 12.01 pm the meeting be adjourned for 10 
minutes to enable the Committee the opportunity to read the 
amended report in relation to item 8 “North Devon Launchpad 2030 – 
Covid 19 Recovery Strategy” and that the meeting be reconvened at 
12.11 p.m. 

  

163.   NORTH DEVON LAUNCHPAD 2030 - COVID 19 RECOVERY 
STRATEGY 
 

Following the adjournment of the meeting, the Committee agreed to consider the 
report regarding North Devon Launchpad 2030 – Covid 19 Recovery Strategy as 
only minor amendments had been made. 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place (circulated previously) 
regarding the North Devon Launchpad 2030 – Covid 19 Recovery Strategy. 
 
The Head of Place advised that only minor amendments had been made to the 
report following responses received from the Senior Management Team and updates 
had been made to statistics and dates.  The section regarding governance 
partnership arrangements had been largely removed from the report and had been 
replaced by the inclusion of general terms for governance and roles. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the activity undertaken so far by the Council and its 

partners to respond to the impacts of COVID-19 be noted; 
 

(b) That the draft 2030 Vision and its use for consultation be 
approved; 
 

(c) That the COVID-19 Recovery Framework be approved. 

164.   APPROVAL AND RELEASE OF SECTION 106 PUBLIC OPEN 
SPACE FUNDS - BICKINGTON 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Project, Procurement and Open Space 
Officer (circulated previously) regarding the allocation of section 106 public open 
space funds towards a project in Bickington. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
8 

 

 
The Project, Procurement and Open Space Officer highlighted the following: 
 

 Currently Babbages play area was closed due to the safety of the play 
equipment. 

 Fremington Parish Council had undertaken consultation and identified 
equipment as detailed in paragraph 4.1 of the report. 

 The project would be fully funded by section 106 contributions as detailed in 
paragraph 5.1 of the report. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That £23,816 be allocated to Fremington Parish Council towards 

the enhancement of Babbages play area, Bickington; 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
 
(b) That Council be recommended to vary the capital programme by 

£23,816 and that funds be released, subject to a Funding 
Agreement upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed by 
the Senior Solicitor, for external projects. 

165.   APPROVAL AND RELEASE OF SECTION 106 PUBLIC OPEN 
SPACE FUNDS - SOUTH MOLTON 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Project, Procurement and Open Space 
Officer (circulated previously) regarding the allocation of section 106 public open 
space funds towards a project in South Molton. 
 
The Project, Procurement and Open Space Officer highlighted the following: 
 

 The project would enhance the footpaths around the recreation ground and 
community woodlands.   

 South Molton Town Council was the owner of the vast amount of open space 
in South Molton. 

 The existing footpath was relatively narrow and in poor condition which 
created difficulty for members of the community such as push chair and 
wheelchair users to use safely. 

 The funding details were contained in paragraph 5.1 of the report. 
 
Councillor Worden declared a personal interest as a member of South Molton Town 
Council.  He advised that the footpath area became wet and the footpath had not 
been previously constructed to a sufficient standard for access for push chair and 
wheelchair users. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That £17,648.61 be awarded to South Molton Town Council 

towards the enhancement of the footpaths at the Recreation 
Ground and Community Woodland; 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
9 

 

 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
(b) That Council be recommended to vary the capital programme 

by £17,648.61 and that funds be released, subject to a 
Funding Agreement upon such terms and conditions as may 
be agreed by the Senior Solicitor, for external projects. 

166.   LEE BAY HOTEL SITE DESIGN GUIDE 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place (circulated previously) 
regarding the Lee Bay Hotel site design guide. 
 
The Planning Policy Officer highlighted the following: 
 

 The Lee Bay Hotel had been disused since it ceased trading in 2005.   

 A planning application for development of the site was refused in 2019.  The 
Planning Committee as part of the decision for refusal resolved that a design 
guide be prepared to provide guidance for the type and scale of 
redevelopment that would be acceptable on this site. 

 A design guide could not be considered as a formal supplementary planning 
document, however it could be agreed for use as a material planning 
consideration. 

 In view of the range of landscape and heritage constraints affecting this site, 
the design guide was prepared in partnership with the AONB Manager and 
the Council’s Conservation Officer.  It was also shared with Lee and Lincombe 
Residents Association, Ilfracombe Town Council and the site developer, with 
amendments made as a result of the comments received.  

 The Design Guide identifies the types of scale of development that were 
considered suitable for the site. 

 
RESOLVED that the Lee Bay Hotel site Design Guide (appendix A) be 
adopted as a material planning consideration. 

167.   COMMUNITY-LED HOUSING IN NORTH DEVON - UPDATE 
 

The Committee considered and noted a report by the Affordable Housing Service 
Lead (circulated previously) regarding an update on the progress being made in 
community-led housing in North Devon. 
 
The Head of Environmental Health and Housing advised that five community land 
trusts had been established and 57 units of accommodation had been provided.  The 
social value was greater than in a more urban setting.  

168.   NIL COST ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING SOLUTIONS 
 

The Committee considered a joint report by the Head of Place and Senior 
Regeneration Officer (circulated previously) regarding “nil cost” electric vehicle 
charging solutions. 
 
The Senior Regeneration Officer highlighted the following: 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
10 

 

 

 On 6 January 2020, the Committee resolved that the Parking Manager 
investigate “nil cost” alternative Electric Vehicle charging solutions to the 
DELETTI agreement. 

 Suppliers of rapid chargers were requesting lease arrangements of 7-20 
years.  Parking Services have therefore chosen car parks which they do not 
envisage a future change of use.  19 car parks had been identified and put 
forward as detailed in Appendix B. 

 
In response to questions, the Senior Regeneration Officer advised the following: 
 

 The list of car parks would be put forward to the supplier and they would then 
undertake a desk top survey.  They would take into account the amount of 
electricity that could be supplied to the site.  Therefore, chargers would not be 
necessarily installed in all of the car parks put forward and some would be 
ruled out. 

 Only rapid chargers would be installed which would take 30-60 minutes.  
Other solutions for fast and slower charges would be investigated further in 
the future. 

 If the Council selected a profit share scheme, the supplier would receive the 
net profit and the Council would receive a share of the profit or rent. 

 All costs would be met by the supplier and the Council would not incur any 
costs.  The Council might experience a slight decrease in car park income. 

 The Council would use the DELETTI contract and could include a requirement 
to remove infrastructure at the end of the contract. 

 The Parking Service had requested that a maximum of one charger is 
included within each car park. 

 As the suppliers are private investors, there was a limit to how many chargers 
they could provide.  However some suppliers had advised that they would 
provide additional chargers if there was demand. 

 
The Head of Place advised that the Climate Action Team could consider the 
provision of electric charging solutions in other areas and how to include this within 
planning policies. 
 
In response to a question, the Head of Resources advised that the Council had not 
yet paid the £12,000 to Devon County Council as part of the collaboration 
agreement.  He would confirm the position and report back to Members. 
 
The Project, Procurement and Open Space Officer advised that live competitive 
tenders could not be reported to a formal meeting of the  Committee. 

 
RESOLVED that it being 1.01 pm that the meeting continue in order 
for the remaining business to be transacted. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the Head of Place be delegated authority in consultation 

with the Leader and Ward Members to put forward the list of 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



 
Strategy and Resources Committee - 3 August 2020 

 
 

 
11 

 

car parks for future Electric Vehicle point solutions; 
 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Head of Place to determine 
submissions and tenders and to appoint a contractor to deliver 
a new Electric Vehicle solution within the Council owned and 
operated car parks subject to: 
 
(a) compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
and relevant laws relating to procurement; 
 
(b) prior consultation with the Head of Resources, Car Park 
Manager and Property Team and Lead Members. 

169.   URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

The Committee noted the urgent decisions that had been made by the Chief 
Executive in accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annex 2, Part 3 of the Constitution 
(circulated previously) regarding pavement licensing (constitution) and pavement 
licensing (fee). 
 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 1.05 pm 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

REPORT TO: STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 

Date: 1st September 2020 

TOPIC: PERFORMANCE and FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
QUARTER 1 of 2020/21 

REPORT BY: HEAD OF RESOURCES 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1  This is one of the series of regular quarterly reports on the council's overall 
operational and financial performance. The report covers financial as well as 
operational performance. It mainly covers the quarter from April to June 2020. 

1.2 Sections 4 deals with headline financial performance.  More detailed performance 
information is available in Appendix E. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  That the actions being taken to ensure that performance is at the desired level be 
noted. 

2.2 That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves be approved (section 4.2) 

2.3 That the movements on the Strategic Contingency Reserve (section 4.3) be noted. 

2.4  That council approve the variations to the Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2022/23 
(sections 4.4.3) 

2.5 That funds are released for the capital schemes listed in section 4.4.11 

2.6  That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (section 4.5), and Debt 
Management (sections 4.6 and 4.7) be noted. 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1  To ensure that appropriate action is taken to allow the council to meet its objectives. 

3.2  To inform Members of actual results compared to the approved Corporate Plan, as 
well as progress in delivering service within the revenue budget and Capital 
Programme 

4 PRIORITY – RESOURCES 

4.1 Revenue 

4.1.1 The revenue budget for 2020/21 was approved at Council on 26th February 2020 at 
£13,380,000. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



4.1.2 As at 30 June 2020, the latest forecast net budget is £13,765,000, which produces 
a forecast budget deficit of £385,000.  Details are shown in “Appendix A – 
Variations in the Revenue Budget” 

4.1.3 The original budget for 2020/21 included a forecast to achieve £200,000 worth of 
salary vacancy savings.  The current position forecasts this will be achieved this 
financial year; of which £194,000 has already been identified at 30th June 2020. 

4.1.4 There is much pressure on the 2020/21 budget due to the Covid-19 pandemic and 
the Council’s income streams have been greatly affected in the first quarter of 
2020/21 and this is expected to continue through the financial year.  Also additional 
costs have been incurred by the council in provision of temporary accommodation, 
additional agency staff for waste and recycling and in supporting the local 
community.   

4.1.5 Central government have announced and paid local authorities 3 tranches of 
support funding totalling £1,189,000 for North Devon.  We have also claimed 
£160,000 in respect of the job retention scheme and received £170,000 New 
Burdens grant for administering the business grants.  Central government have 
announced they will help support local authorities for lost income by paying 75% of 
any lost income after Councils incur the first 5% variance, however we are awaiting 
final guidance on this scheme.  The expected lost income and additional costs have 
been factored into the figures in Appendix A along with the anticipated government 
support. 

4.1.6 It is anticipated that there will be a reduction in both Council Tax and Business 
Rates income during 2020/21 as a result of the pandemic.  However, no reduction 
for income is being reported for 2020/21 year as the financial effect of any deficit on 
the Collection Fund income will not have an impact on NDC finances until later 
years  as the Government also announced that deficits on this taxation income can 
be spread over the next 3 financial years. 

4.1.7 It is difficult to quantify the full impact of Covid-19 at this stage with any certainty, 
however the financial pressure on the Council will be substantial through 2020-21 
and beyond – even after taking into account the above mentioned emergency 
Covid-19 funding announced by the Government.  The Council does have both 
general fund and earmarked reserve balances which it could call upon in 2020-21 to 
mitigate the economic impact being experienced but clearly this would have much 
longer term solvency implications for the authority. 

4.1.8 Moving forwards, the Council will reset its Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
recognition of the impact of the pandemic and the refresh of the Council’s strategic 
objectives.  The changing environment and ‘new normal’ in which we are likely to 
find ourselves will require the Council to review the services it provides, how these 
are delivered and the outcomes that are of the highest priority. 

4.1.9 Regular financial monitoring will continue to ensure the Council takes all necessary 
remedial action where it can, with a continued focus on delivering key services to 
our communities against the financial backdrop of considerable reduced resources. 

4.1.10 The recommended level of general fund balance is 5%-10% of the council’s net 
revenue budget (£669,000 to £1,338,000).  The forecast general fund reserve at 31 
March 2021 is £1,161,000 which is a level of 8.7%. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7



4.1.11 At the 30th June 2020 total external borrowing was £500,000.  The timing of any 
future borrowing is dependent on how the authority manages its treasury activity 
and due to current low interest rates and reduced returns on investments it is 
prudent for the Council to ‘internally borrow’ and use these monies to fund the 
Capital Programme.   

4.2 Earmarked Reserves 2020/21 

4.2.1 “Appendix B – Movement in reserves and Balances” details the movements to and 
from earmarked reserves in 2020/21. 

4.3 Strategic Contingency Reserve 

4.3.1 Full details of the Strategic Contingency Reserve movements and commitments are 
attached as “Appendix C – Strategic Contingency Reserve” 

4.4 Capital 

4.4.1 The 2020/21 to 2022/23 Capital Programme is attached as “Appendix D – Capital 
Programme” 

4.4.2 The Budget and Financial Framework report to Full Council 26th February 2020 
outlined the Capital Programme for the 2020/21 financial year of £12,622,028.  
Project under spends of £2,673,332 were brought forward from 2019/20 year and 
further variations of (£1,978,093) were approved as part of the performance and 
financial management report to Strategy and Resources on 3rd August 2020 to 
produce a revised 2020/21 Capital Programme of £13,317,267. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



4.4.3 Overall variations of (£378,331) are proposed to the 2020/21 Capital Programme 
as follows: 

 Other variations (+ and -) to 2020/21 Capital Programme – £41,465 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

S106 Bickington - Play area at Babbages 23,816 Strategy and Resources 
committee 3rd August ‘20 

S106 South Molton – Enhancement of 
footpaths, recreational grounds and 
community woodlands  

17,649 Strategy and Resources 
committee 3rd August ‘20 

 

 Budget virement (transfer) between projects 2020/21 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

S106 Various Projects (30,000) Move to new code, keep 
separate from Public 
Open Space S106 
schemes 

S106 Fremington Quay repair – Phase 1 30,000 Move to new code, keep 
separate from Public 
Open Space S106 
schemes 

 

 Project movements (to)/from future years – (£419,796) 

Scheme Amount (£) Notes 

Marine Drive Car Park (£65,000) Slip spend from 20/21 
to 21/22 

Resurfacing to Various Car Parks (£54,796) Slip spend from 20/21 
to 21/22 

Water Sports Centre (£300,000) Re-profile of spend from 
20/21 to 21/22 

 

4.4.4 The revised Capital Programme for 2020/21 taking into account the budget 
variations above is £12,938,936. 

4.4.5 Actual spend on the 2020/21 Capital Programme, as at 30 June 2020 is £692,000. 
A number of the larger schemes are due to start shortly. 

4.4.6 The overall Capital Programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 is £29,544,997 and is 
broken down as follows: 

 2020/21 £12,938,936 

 2021/22 £13,804,491 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



 2022/23 £2,801,570 

4.4.7 The Programme of £29,544,997 is funded by Capital Receipts / Borrowing 
(£14,844,331), External Grants and Contributions (£12,128,337) and Reserves 
(£2,572,329).  

4.4.8 The timing and realisation of capital receipts can be impacted by events beyond 
the control of the Council and we have been able to manage cash flows for projects 
through internal borrowing.   

4.4.9 We also have authority to borrow from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) as 
outlined in the Treasury Management Annual Investment Strategy and the Council 
currently has external borrowing of £1.250m. 

4.4.10 Release of Funds – 2020/21 Capital Programme 

4.4.11 Once funds have been included in the Capital Programme the Constitution 
requires a separate decision to release those funds. There are no release of funds 
for this quarter. 

 

4.5 Treasury Management  

4.5.1 Bank Rate remained at 0.10% during the quarter.   

4.5.2 The average 7 day LIBID (inter-bank bid rate), the Council’s benchmark rate at 30th 
June 2020, was -0.04% (previous year 0.57%). 

4.5.3 The return earned on the Council’s investments was 0.32% (previous year 0.65%). 

4.5.4 £30,294 investment interest was earned during the quarter. (The 2020/21 interest 
receivable budget is £50,000) 

4.5.5 As at 30th June 2020, the Council had total external borrowing of £500,000.  

4.5.6 £3,537 interest was paid at an average rate of 1.80% on the PWLB loans during 
the quarter. (2020/21 interest payable budget is £74,000) 

 

4.6 Debt Management 

4.6.1 The three major areas of credit income are Council Tax, Business Rates and 
General Debtors.  

4.6.2 As billing authority, the Council annually raises the bills for Council Tax 
(£69,000,000) and Business Rates (£32,000,000). 

4.6.3 Collection rates are controlled through monitoring: 

 the level of write offs 

 levels of previous years’ outstanding debt 

 the level of income collection in the year against the annual sums due to be 
collected. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



4.6.4 The council’s budget is based on the assumption that eventually 97.5% of sums 
due will be collected. To ensure this level is achieved, year on year levels of write 
offs approved are controlled against a ceiling of 2.5% of annual debt. 

4.6.5 The outstanding amounts at 30th June 2020 are as set out below: 

 Council Tax Business Rates 

Age in Years 2019/20 
£’000 

2020/21 
£’000 

2019/20 
£’000 

2020/21 
£’000 

1 – 2 1,487 1,851 156 765 

2 – 3 761 852 72 219 

3 – 4 418 512 47 80 

4 – 5 267 305 17 56 

5 – 6 162 201 32 27 

Over 6 231 295 45 75 

4.6.6 Irrecoverable debts from previous years not exceeding £1,500 can be written off 
with the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. Decisions on whether to write 
off debts over £1,500 rest with the Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council.  As at 30th June 2020 the amount of accounts written off was 
as follows: 

Less than £1,500  More than £1,500 

No. of 
accounts 

Amount  No. of 
accounts 

Amount 

34 £766 Council Tax 0 £0* 

1 £3 Business Rates 0 £0** 

46 £9,266 Housing Benefits 0 £0 

* £0 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8) 

** £0 due to bankruptcy and company insolvency (see section 4.6.8) 

Due to the uncertainty that Covid-19 caused, normal debt recovery procedures during 
Quarter 1 were suspended and more recently “soft” reminder letters have been issued to 
customers.  

4.6.7 The monitoring of in year collection is carried out against national performance 
indicators targets of sums collected in year as a percentage of the Net Sums Due 
for that year.  

4.6.8 The majority of the write offs are individual bankruptcy and company insolvency 
and in a number of cases include liabilities for previous years. In these cases we 
are unable to recover the debt. However, if at a later date a dividend is paid, the 
money is allocated to the account and the relevant amount written back on.  

4.6.9 The other main reason for write offs is where the person has gone away (no trace). 
However, write offs are reviewed and where we find the persons contact address 
the write off is reversed and recovery action continues.  Page 22

Agenda Item 7



4.6.10 The levels of collection are: 

Achieved 
2019/20 

Achieved 
2020/21 

Council tax 28.59% 27.47% 

Business rates 31.96% 21.07% 

 

4.6.11 Council tax collection rates are just over 1% lower in the first quarter compared to 
last year due mainly to the impact of the pandemic on customer’s ability to pay and 
we have made payment arrangements with a number of customers to spread their 
10-month instalments later to now pay June 2020 to March 2021.  This undoubtedly 
has a cash flow impact on the collection rates for the first quarter as indicated. 

4.6.12 Business rate collection rates are currently showing a 10% lower rate compared 
to last year; however in the first quarter the internal transfer for NDC owned 
property business rates value of £703,000 had not been processed until quarter 2, 
when normally this is transferred in April annually, like it was in April 2019.  Having 
been paid would take the collection rate up to 26.21%, a reduction on the previous 
year of just under 6%. 

4.6.13 As stated earlier in section 4.1.6 reductions in council tax and business rate 
collection will impact upon future financial years (and not 2020/21) and will need to 
be closely monitored to enable this Council to build into its financial plans as these 
will be a cost impact in the 2021/22 to 2023/24 years. 

 

4.7 General Debtors 

4.7.1 The level of general invoices raised was £2,130,000 at 30th June 2020 (previous 
year £4,000,000).  

4.7.2 A summary of outstanding debt, by age, is set out below with comparison to the 
previous year.  

Age of debt 30 Jun 
2019 

30 Jun 
2020 

 £’000 £’000 

3 weeks to 6 months 799 349 

6 months to 1 year 195 294 

1 to 2 years 58 316 

2 to 6 years 301 301 

Over 6 years  24   50 

TOTAL 1,377 1,310 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



4.7.3 In accordance with the Constitution, irrecoverable debts not exceeding £1,500 can 
be written off with the authorisation of the Head of Financial Services. The Chief 
Financial Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, must authorise 
write off of debts over £1,500. 

4.7.4 As at 30th June 2020, the amounts written off were as follows: 

 

Number 
of 

Invoices 

Written offs - 
£1,500 & 

under 

Number 
of 

Invoices 

Written offs 
- over 
£1,500 

0 £0 0 £0 

 

5 Constitutional context 

Article and 
paragraph 

Appendix 
and 
paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated 
power? 

A key 
decision? 

In the 
Forward 
Plan? 

7.12 

 

 

13, para 4.7 

Delegated 
power 

 

No No 

6 Statement of Internal Advice 

6.1 The authors (below) confirm that advice has been taken from all 
appropriate Councillors and officers. 

7 Background Papers 

None 

Author: Jon Triggs, Head of Resources     Date: 7th August ‘20 

Ref: I:\Projects\Single Report\2020-21 Q1\Q1 Perf & FM - Exec.doc 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



“APPENDIX A - VARIATIONS IN THE REVENUE BUDGET” 

Service and Cost Area Worse/(Better) Totals 

  £m £m 

Temporary Accommodation 254,000   

Other (10,000)   

Environmental Health & Housing   244,000 

BEC Utilities (4,000)  
Rental income 74,000  
Rates 21,000  
Housing Benefits Subsidy 135,000  
Covid-19 Initial Response - Work environment Re-configuration 45,000  
Resources   271,000 

Museum income 25,000  
Covid-19 Support - Leisure 200,000  
Legal income (6,000)  
Democratic Representation & Management (13,000)  
Corporate & Community Services   206,000 

Works & Recycling Employees Agency Covid-19 286,000  
Works & Recycling Employees Other (50,000)  
Works & Recycling Vehicle costs (Fuel) (43,000)  
Works & Recycling Trade Waste income 200,000  
Works & Recycling Shared Savings Scheme 72,000  
Works & Recycling Recycling Sales 236,000  
Works & Recycling Other 6,000   

Car Parks Pay & Display income 1,736,000  
Car Parks Other income (Ringo, Season Tickets, PCN) 330,000  
Operational Services   2,773,000 

Harbour reduced income 22,000  
HR Professional Fees & Further Education (28,000)  
Land Charges fees & Supplies 11,000  
Other (5,000)   

Corporate Services   0 

Place Employees (10,000)  
Planning fee income 80,000  
Building Control income 65,000   

Pannier Market income 108,000   

Place   243,000 

Covid-19 Initial Response - PPE, ICT hardware 95,000  
Job Retention Scheme (160,000)  
New Burdens SBG RHLG (170,000)  
Estimated 75% Government Reimbursement for lost income (1,928,000)  
Additional Government Funding Covid-19 (1,189,000)  
Other   (3,352,000) 

Total   385,000 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



“Appendix B - Movement in Reserves & Balances” 

 

Earmarked Reserves 

Opening 
Balance 
1st April 

2020 

Transfer 
to 

Reserves 

Transfer 
from 

Reserves 
(to Capital) 

Transfer 
from 

Reserves (to 
Revenue) 

Transfer 
between 
Reserves 

Closing 
Balance 

31st March 
2021 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 

Collection Fund Reserve 732,620         732,620 

Community Housing Fund -Housing 
Enabling 569,400         569,400 

Capital Funding Reserve 397,587   -31,447     366,140 

Vehicle Renewals Fund 171,790 250,000 -117,790     304,000 

Transformation Reserve 0 250,000       250,000 

Crem Equipment Replacement Reserve 240,000         240,000 

Repairs Fund 400,003 236,290 -191,500 -236,290   208,503 

Crem Earmarked Reserve 199,948         199,948 

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 200,990     -6,000   194,990 

Planning Enquiries Fund 190,133     -20,000   170,133 

Local Plans Fund 144,125         144,125 

Economic Development Reserve 143,987     -5,670   138,317 

Digital Transformation Financial Systems 168,895   -33,894 -4,330   130,671 

Tarka Tennis Surface replacement 70,873 13,000       83,873 

Improvement Programme Reserve 95,817   -16,546     79,271 

Strategic Contingency Reserve 193,842     -117,240   76,602 

Self Build & Custom Housebuild 72,302         72,302 

Leisure Centre Replacement Reserve 63,099         63,099 

Office Technology Reserve 193,099 115,000 -230,180 -17,498   60,421 

Council Tax Support Scheme Reserve 79,919     -27,420   52,499 

Rough Sleeper Initiative - DCLG grant 78,577     -29,216   49,361 

CCTV Reserve 117,000   -69,000     48,000 

Prevention CLG Grant Reserve 45,317         45,317 

P C Planned Maintenance Fund 40,156         40,156 

Car Parking Reserve 30,496         30,496 

External Legal Services Reserve 30,000         30,000 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission 26,263         26,263 

Internal Audit Plan 25,687         25,687 

Brexit Exports EH 25,000         25,000 

District Council Election 0 25,000       25,000 

Community Protection Vehicles Reserve 18,000 6,000       24,000 

Community Consultation 38,383   -14,700     23,683 

Neighbourhood Planning 23,250         23,250 

Climate & Environmental Grants 0 20,000       20,000 

Specialist Domestic Abuse Reserve 18,901         18,901 

Building Control Reserve 18,000         18,000 

Development Control Fund 15,600         15,600 

Lynton Agency Reserve 13,522         13,522 

IER Funding 13,138         13,138 

Museum development fund 10,539         10,539 

Ilfracombe Harbour Repairs 10,000         10,000 

Members Technology Reserve 0 6,070       6,070 

Theatres Reserve 6,000         6,000 

Town & Parish Fund 5,159         5,159 

Greensweep Replacement Fund 32,703   -30,000     2,703 

Noise Equipment reserve 129 2,000       2,129 

New Homes Bonus Reserve 125,147 45,050 -168,355     1,842 

Ilfracombe Watersports Centre Reserve 3,180     -1,880   1,300 

Habitat Directive Reserve 945         945 

Local Welfare Support reserve 541         541 

Office Accommodation Reserve 41         41 

Second Homes Council Tax Reserve 125,289   -125,289     0 

Covid-19 Funding Reserve 52,672 1,136,391   -1,189,063   0 

Provision for Brexit Reserve 52,452     -52,452   0 

Future High Street Fund FHSF 45,271     -45,271   0 

RS Rapid Rehoming Pathway 19,782     -19,782   0 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



 

“APPENDIX C - STRATEGIC CONTINGENCY RESERVE”  

 

Resources Available £ 

Balance brought forward 1st April 2020 (193,842) 

Contribution to reserve 2020/21 (0) 

 (193,842) 

2020/21 Commitments £ 

    Junction 27 – Economic impact on North Devon (Exec 03/03/15) 10,000 

    Water Sports Centre, Ilfracombe (Exec 05/09/16) 11,740 

    North Devon Fisherman’s Association (Exec 04/06/19) 500 

    Funding of potential Judicial review (Full Council 20/11/19) 3,000 

    Blue Glass Recycling Boxes (Strategy and Resources 01/06/20)  92,000 

  

Total projected spend in Year 117,240 

Balance Remaining at 31 March 2021 (76,602) 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7
Appendix C



 

 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix C



APPENDIX D - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 TO 2022/23 

Project 
 

Original 
Budget 
2020/21                  

£ 

Actuals 
as at 
30th 
June 
2020 

Variance   

Original 
Budget 
2021/22                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

                        
Chief Executive and Corporate 

       
Website Improvement   5,455 0 5,455   0 0 

ICT Capital Investment 22/23   0 0 0   0 432,570 

Office Technology Fund - End User Assets & Assets in Data Centre   160,873 0 160,873   357,770 0 

ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery Capabilities   216,140 0 216,140   0 0 

ICT Skype for Business   137,110 51,309 85,801   0 0 

  

519,578 51,309 468,269   357,770 432,570 

        
Corporate and Community 

       
Museum of Barnstaple - Long Bridge Wing   39,573 0 39,573   0 0 

21:21 (Transformation Project)   16,546 0 16,546   0 0 

Committee Administration System   255 0 255   0 0 

Online Consultation Software System   14,700 0 14,700   0 0 

S106 Contributions - Various projects   437,342 6,380 430,962   0 0 

Fremington Quay Wall Repair - Phase 1   30,000 0 30,000   0 0 

Tarka Tennis Artificial Grass Pitch   4,560 0 4,560   0 0 

Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren   4,421,315 193,125 4,228,190   9,938,608 0 

  

4,964,291 199,505 4,764,786   9,938,608 0 

        
Environmental Health & Housing 

       
Affordable Housing delivery Grant   5,000 0 5,000   0 0 

Affordable Housing Fund   90,000 0 90,000   0 0 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix D



Project 
 

Original 
Budget 
2020/21                  

£ 

Actuals 
as at 
30th 
June 
2020 

Variance   

Original 
Budget 
2021/22                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

S106 Affordable Housing - Higher Westaway, Newton Tracey   45,000 0 45,000   0 0 

ECO Warm up Grants   586,046 16,141 569,905   0 0 

Disabled Facilities Grant Programme   1,571,867 164,775 1,407,092   979,000 979,000 

Boyton House   173,459 0 173,459   0 0 

Provision of temporary accommodation   285,674 0 285,674   0 0 

  

2,757,046 180,916 2,576,130   979,000 979,000 

        
Operational Services 

       
Works Unit Vehicles   394,910 0 394,910   903,108 1,290,000 

Rolling Road - for Workshop   31,790 0 31,790   0 0 

HGV Ramps   950 0 950   0 0 

Material Recovery Facility - Infrastructure   760,000 0 760,000   0 0 

  

1,187,650 0 1,187,650   903,108 1,290,000 

        
Place 

       
Land Release Fund - Seven Brethren   2,029,670 0 2,029,670   0 0 

CCTV service   115,000 0 115,000   0 0 

Replacement Planning ICT system   10,730 0 10,730   0 0 

  

2,155,400 0 2,155,400   0 0 

        
Resources 

       
Barnstaple Bus Station re-furbishment   0 0 0   51,394 0 

Marine Drive Car Park Resurfacing - Ilfracombe   0 0 0   65,000 0 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix D



Project 
 

Original 
Budget 
2020/21                  

£ 

Actuals 
as at 
30th 
June 
2020 

Variance   

Original 
Budget 
2021/22                  

£ 

Original 
Budget 
2022/23                  

£ 

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks   53,772 0 53,772   0 0 

Jubilee Gardens reserved car park retaining wall   31,447 0 31,447   0 0 

Resurfacing to various car parks   0 0 0   54,796 0 

Retaining Wall - Watersmeet Car Park Lynton   22,000 0 22,000   0 0 

Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car Park Lynton   9,500 0 9,500   0 0 

Esplanade Wall   49,208 0 49,208   0 0 

Public Maintenance - Public House corner of Castle St & 16 Castle 
St   90,000 0 90,000   0 0 

Refurbishment Lower Lyndale Public Toilets, Lynmouth   30,000 0 30,000   0 0 

HR and Payroll System   33,894 13,290 20,604   0 0 

Pannier Market Re-roofing works   100,000 0 100,000   300,000 100,000 

Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe   200,000 0 200,000   1,154,815 0 

Acquisition of Land off Frankmarsh, Barnstaple   335,900 246,900 89,000   0 0 

Planned Maintenance Seven Brethren   109,250 0 109,250   0 0 

Digital Transformation Asset and Financial Management System   40,000 0 40,000   0 0 

  

1,104,971 260,190 844,781   1,626,005 100,000 

        
Resources - Non Treasury 

       
Acquisition of Corporate Property   250,000 0 250,000   0 0 

    250,000 0 250,000   0 0 

        

  

12,938,936 691,920 12,247,016   13,804,491 2,801,570 

 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix D



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Appendix E 
 
 
 
Table A: High level status of all service plan actions tracked on Pentana 

 
 
 

  
Completed 

 

 
Overdue 

 
Cancelled 

 
Not due 

 
Total 

 
Totals 418 4 50 70 542 
 
Since the last report 
included in the total 
 

 
         24 

 
 

 
 

  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



 
 
 
 
Table B: Service plan actions that have been cancelled authorised by SMT 
 

Action 
 

Reason 

P PBP 12 19/20 Viable and sustainable Barnstaple 
Pannier Market 

This action duplicates CE PM 01 17/18. 

Deletion requested. 

 

Table C: Service Plan Actions (24) completed  

Action Closure Note Due Date Completed Date 

C&C C&C 03 18/19 New contact centre system New Contact Centre successfully implemented January 2020 31-Mar-2020 08-Jul-2020 

C&C C&CS 06 17/18 A review of governance and 
democratic arrangements 

Council on 15th April 2019 adopted a new committee structure 
and new constitution with effect from 1st May 2019.  The revised 
constitution will be reviewed in April 2020. 

31-Mar-2021 07-Jul-2020 

C&C L 01 18/19 Implementation of GDPR (training, on-
going advice, updating policies, procedures and 
guidance notes). 

Implementation of GDPR successfully completed 30-Apr-2020 17-July-2020 

C&C L 01 19/20 Facilitate half-yearly workshop 
sessions for  colleagues 

This training is on-going and now incorporated into business as 
usual  

30-Apr-2020 17-July-2020 

C&C L 02 17/18 Increase income from external clients Updated Action 'to obtain income from external clients' 
incorporated into 2020/21 Service Plan 

30-Apr-2020 28-July-2020 

C&C L 02 19/20 Production of dedicated templates for 
s106 agreements 

Suite of Section 106 Agreement templates has been agreed and 
these are accessible through Insite 

31-Oct-2019 17-July-2020 

CE ED 02 18/19 Participate in Devon One Public Estate 
surplus public land regeneration programme 

Additional information: Led by DCC accountable body. 
Programme has secured £265k. Programme management £60k. 
Chivenor £150k. Barnstaple and Ilfracombe £75k. Paignton 
£100k. Once project underway and development schemes 
identified and agreed may be requirement for further revenue 

31-Mar-2023 20-Jul-2020 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table C: Service Plan Actions (24) completed  

and/or capital funds (e.g. for geotech, flood, archeol, CPO etc 
etc). LEP funding for Chivenor economic study £40k. Somerset 
CC are accountable body.   

CE ED 03 18/19 Barnstaple Town Centre Improvement 
Projects 

Replaced by Barnstaple Town Centre Vision and Future High 
Streets Fund programme. 

31-Mar-2021 20-Jul-2020 

CE ED 05 18/19 Up to date Strategic Economic 
Framework 

It has been agreed with the Innovation Board that an Inward 
Investment Strategy is not necessary at this time – they want to 
focus on supporting our existing business stock and start-ups. 

31-Mar-2020 17-Jul-2020 

CE P 05 17/18 Replace the existing planning ICT 
database (FastPlanning) to provide a fit for purpose 
system.  

Main system implemented May 2019  31-Jan-2020 20-Jul-2020 

E&LC 02 19/20 Household Canvass 2018 Canvass successfully completed 30-Nov-2019 09-Jul-2020 

H 02 15/16 Homeless prevention JT and JM now content that arrangements for monitoring 
recovery rates are fully embedded. 

31-Mar-2020 22-Jul-2020 

HR 05 16/17 Explore joint HR and Payroll Closure Note: The system has been specified, procured and 
now live.   

31-Mar-2020 20-Jul-2020 

ICT 01 20/21 Contract with free sustainable ICT Asset 
Disposal Company 

Closure Note: We have commissioned Stone to manage our 
ICT asset disposals.   

31-Mar-2022 06-Jul-2020 

ICT 07 20/21 Co-ordinate Digital Peer Review & Full 
Peer Review 

Closure Note: Both LGA Reviews organised and delivered 
without a hitch. Now await reports to be taken to Strategy and 
Resources Committee to determine their appetite to move 
forward with the recommendations.   

31-Mar-2022 06-Jul-2020 

OS CREM 02 19/20 Stop flooding of summerhouse 
area in memorial gardens 

Awaiting resin bonding layer. Delayed due to COVID 

 

Flood works are complete 

30-Apr-2020 15-Jul-2020 

OS PARK 03 19/20 Install a virtual permit option for 
customers 

Went Live June 2020 31-Mar-2020 02-Jul-2020 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table C: Service Plan Actions (24) completed  

P 07c 15/16 To implement the Community 
Infrastructure Levy charging schedule 

There are no plans to implement a CIL regime with government 
having removed some of the barriers that were applied to the 
S106 process. This may be reviewed once the government has 
reviewed the planning system - outcome to be known late 2020 -  
and in light of the local plan review.  

30-Jun-2020 01-Apr-2020 

P PBP 11 19/20 Yelland Economic Plan This action is no longer required - it has been incorporated into 
another strand of work - to refresh the Coastal Community 
Economic Plan for the Tarka Trail. 

30-Apr-2020 10-Jul-2020 

P SS 03 19/20 Innovation Strategy - North Devon and 
Torridge 

The Innovation Strategy has been published and the Innovation 
Board continue to discuss interventions and actions to further 
innovation in northern Devon. 

30-Apr-2020 10-Jul-2020 

P SS 04 19/20 Inward Investment Strategy Discussions with partners, TDC and Innovation Board members 
have identified the lack of need for a 'Strategy' on Inward 
Investment.  It was felt this work is being picked up with NDC ED 
Officer contact with colleagues in DTI and that a focus on 
internal investment and supporting existing business growth and 
start-ups should be the priority. 

30-Apr-2020 10-Jul-2020 

P SS 05 19/20 Sector Profiles It has been recognised that the 'sector profiles' are not a 
separate piece of work but are incorporated into the 
development of the Northern Devon Economic Strategy - which 
itself is currently on hold.  This action therefore is not needed 
now. 

30-Apr-2020 10-Jul-2020 

R 03 19/20 Review of Council Tax support scheme The new scheme for 2020-21 was approved by members 28-Feb-2020 07-Jul-2020 

R 04 20/21 Introducing payrolling benefits with HMRC We have registered for Payrolling benefits and the new Itrent 
payroll system is paying over the tax monthly. 

30-Apr-2020 08-Jul-2020 

 
 
 
 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT 
 

HoS Code Description Current due 
date 

Revised due 
date request 

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting this 
change 

KEN MILES CE ICT 02 
19/20 

Upgrade all 2008 R2 
servers to 2012 or 
2016 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 Further Extension of Time Requests: Those 
servers that have not yet been migrated due to 
COVID-19 works taking priority have been covered 
by a Support and Maintenance contract. An 
extension of time is requested until December 2020 
to ensure all are migrated.   

KEN MILES CE ICT 03 Upgrade the Website 
and get external 
bodies to test our 
accessibility. 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 Extension of Time Request: This element of work 
has been taken into the scope of the approved 
Customer Focus project. Accountability and 
responsibility for this task has been reassigned. New 
due date requested December 2020. 

KEN MILES CE ICT 04 Determine costs and 
benefits of moving our 
back-ups to the cloud. 

30-Jun-2020 31-Mar-2021 Extension of Time Request: COVID-19 has yet 
again pushed this vital piece of work down the 
priority list, capital funds have been allocation 
(although depending on the solution we won't know 
if these are sufficient. We have also sought 
guidance from our new Internal Audit suppliers to 
help ensure we select the right back-up / DR 
solution. We request an EoT of March 2021 

KEN MILES CREM 02 16/17 Address H&S 
concerns in 
crematorium gardens 

30-Apr-2020 28-Feb-2021 This is a rolling project which will be extended once 
5-years complete. Request extend to February 2021 
to allow COVID delayed work to complete, then 
review. 

 

Request revised due date: 28th February 2021 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT 
 

KEN MILES OS CREM 01 Improve flower tribute 
area - Aspen and 
Rowan 

30-Apr-2020 31-May-2021 Aspen works complete. Rowan delayed as in continual 
use (COVID). Delay until May 2021 unless weekend 
works agreed at same cost. 

Request revised due date: 31st May 2021 

JEREMY 
MANN 

EH&H 02 20/21 NDC use of drones 
(unmanned aerial 
vehicles) 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 No progress made due to Covid-19 

 

Request revised due date: 31 December 2020 

JEREMY 
MANN 

H 10 16/17 Discounted sale 
processes 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 AH SPD - Sickness absence at TDC meant 1st 
consultation response received from plannning 
policy end March 20 insead of Nov 19. Covid-19 
lockdown delays - TDC staff diverted to other roles. 
NDC Planning policy now incorporating feedback 
into tracked changes and not yet finished (July 20). 
Aim for Full Council Dec 20. 

JEREMY 
MANN 

H 13 16/17 Off-site contributions 

process 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 AH SPD - Sickness absence at TDC meant 1st 
consultation response received from plannning 
policy end March 20 insead of Nov 19. Covid-19 
lockdown delays - TDC staff diverted to other roles. 
NDC Planning policy now incorporating feedback 
into tracked changes and not yet finished (July 20). 
Aim for Full Council Dec 20. 

MICHAEL 
TICHFORD 

Place 03 20/21 Develop a Climate 
Change and 
Biodiversity Action 
Plan 

31-May-2020 31-Mar-2021 Climate Action Team work has been delayed due to 
focus being given to Covid19 response and recovery 
work. Enviromental Policy has been developed by 
the CAT and was approved by Policy Development 
Committee on 16 July 2020. 

Revised due date requested: 31 March 2021 

KEN MILES PRO 01 16/17 To continue to 
provide support and 
guidence on the 
procurement process. 
From the business 
planning it will be 

30-Apr-2020 31-Jan-2021 Due to staff shortage & Covid-19, an extension of 
time is requested. 

Request revised due date: 31st January 2021 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT 
 

clear how much 
procurement is 
needed over the 
authority and relevent 
support provided 

KEN MILES C&C L 01 17/18 No BC or PID 
required 

30-Apr-2020 30-Apr-2021 This action is on-going.  Full engagement by team 
delayed by Covid-19. 

Request revised due date: 30th April 2021 

KEN MILES C&C L 02 17/18 Increase income from 
external clients 

30-Apr-2020 30-Apr-2021 Delays due to Covid-19 - new instructions now being 
received from parish councils. 

Request revised due date: 30th April 2021 

KEN MILES OS W&R 02 
18/19 

Recycle More Project 30-Apr-2020 31-Mar-2021 Due to Covid-19, We haven't had enough resources 
to complete this action. Work pressures have 
prioritised day to day operational issues. 

Request revised due date: 31st March 2021 

KEN MILES OS W&R 03 
19/20 

Remodel Residual 
Domestic Collection 
Rounds. 

30-Apr-2020 31-Mar-2021 Due to Covid-19, We haven't had enough resources 
to complete this action. Work pressures have 
prioritised day to day operational issues. 

Request revised due date: 31st March 2021 

KEN MILES OS W&R 05 
17/18 

Review Trade Waste 
Service 

30-Apr-2020 31-March-2021 Admin staff have been furloughed and a trade admin 
vacancy has not been filled yet. We haven't had 
enough resources to complete this action. 

Now that businesses are re-opening it is an ideal 
opportunity to ensure all trade details are correct. 

Request revised due date: 31st March 2021 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT 
 

 

KEN MILES W&R 02 16/17 Improve Recycling 
Rates 

30-Apr-2020 31-Mar-2021 Due to having no HoS in place and current Covid-19 
pandemic in process an extension is requested. 

Request revised due date: 31st March 2021 

JON TRIGGS R 01 20/21 Develop a 
Commercialisation 
Strategy that enables 
the Council to 
become more 
enterprising and 
financially sustainable 

30-Apr-2020 31-Oct-2020 Lead Member Councillor Roome and Head of 
Resources met with Cheltenham BC in March 2020 
to discuss their commercial activity and 
achievements.  Preparation of Strategy document 
delayed due to Covid 19. 

Revised due date request: 31 October 2020 

JON TRIGGS R 03 18/19 Upgrade of R&B ICT 
Software to improve 
customer experience 

30-Jun-2020 31-Dec-2020 The full roll out has been delayed due to Covid-19. 

Revised due date requested: 31 December 2020 

 
 
 
 

Table E: Outstanding Service Plan Actions (4) 
 

Code 
 

Description Progress Bar Latest Note 
Original Due 
Date 

Due Date 

PARK 06 16/17 
To take operational control and 

enforcement of the Park & 
Change site at Chivenor 

 

No progress has been made on this - the 
car park is not in a condition suitable for 

adoption by the council. 
30-Apr-2016 30-Apr-2020 

P 01 20/21 
Procurement of new cashless 

parking provider  

The procurement exercise has been 
completed and the contracts are due to be 

signed by the end of July 
30-Jun-2020 

30-Jun-2020 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Table E: Outstanding Service Plan Actions (4) 
 

L 01 20/21 
Review charge out rates.  
Enhance integration with 

financial systems 
 

Delayed due to Covid-19, discussions with 
Accountancy are recommencing. 

31-Jul 2020 

 

31-Jul-2020 

Place 01 20/21  
Future High Streets Fund 

Delivery - Barnstaple  

The Expression of Interest was submitted 
to MHCLG in March (as per their set 

deadline).  Feedback on this was received 
in April 2020 and the team together with 
consultants have been incorporating the 
feedback into a final submission of the 

business case by the MHCLG deadline of 
July 31st 2020. 

31-Jul-2020 

 

 

31-Jul-2020 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Table F: Key Performance Indicators : Last year’s data + this year’s results  
 

                                                           
1 NI 155 changed from Gross to Cumulative 

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Year End 
Target 

Year End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

 
Planning 
 

NI 155 Number of affordable 
homes delivered (cumulative1) 

28 45 74 178  178 
 

  

5      
 

NI 157a Percentage of major 
applications processed within 13 
weeks 

83% 90% 100% 100% 45% 93.25% 45%  

100%      

9%1 95.19% 96.6% 95%  94.45% 75%  

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



 

 

 

NI 157b Percentage of minor 
planning applications processed 
within 8 weeks 

97%      

NI 157c Percentage of other 
applications processed within 8 
weeks 

95% 95.68% 94.1% 96% 85% 95.2%  
 

85.00% 

 

91%    85%  

 
Waste & Recycling 
 

L82(i) Total percentage 
domestic waste recycled 
 
 

50.91% 50.77% 47.78% 46.07%    
46.00% 

* this is a provisional 
figure and may 
increase very 
slightly. 
 

52.1%*      

 
Finance 
 

BV8 Percentage of invoices 
paid on time 
 

96.52% 95.76% 95.7% 95.7% 97.00% 95.92%  
97.00% 

 

96.20%    97.00%  

 
BV9 Percentage of Council Tax 
collected 

28.59% 55.63% 82.33% 96.81% 98.00%   
98.00% 

 

27.47%    98.00%  

BV78a (M) Speed of processing 
- new Housing Benefit/Council 
Tax Benefit claims 
 

21.5% 17.3% 17.8% 21.3% 28.00%   
 

28.0% 

 

27.3%    28.00%  

BV10 Percentage of Non-
domestic Rates Collected 

31.96% 57.45% 81.30% 97.07% 99.05%   
99.05% 

 

21.07%    99.05%  

PI Code & Short Name Performance 
Data Q1 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q2 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q3 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Performance 
Data Q4 
2019/20 & 
2020/21 

Year End 
Target 

Year End 
Result 

Current 
Target 

Latest Note & 
History 
 

 

 
Property & Technical 

95.21% 98.26% 98.28% 98.26%     

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



 

 

PI Code & Short Name Performance 

Data Q 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q2 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q3 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q4 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Year 

End 

Target 

Year 

End 

Result 

Current 

Target 

Latest Note & 

History 

 

 

Building Control 

L300 Building Regulation Full 

Plan applications determined in 

2 months 

99% 96% 100% 100% 95% 98.75% 95% 

 

 

 

 98%    95% 98.75% 

L301 Building Regulation 

Applications examined within 3 

weeks 

84% 90% 98% 99% 95% 92.75% 95% 

 

 

99%    95%  

L302 Average time to first 

response (Days) 

 

12 10 8 7 10  

 

 

10 

 

 

 

5    10  

Customer Services & Communications 

L999 Feedback Customer 

Satisfaction % 

57% 49% 40% 59% 50%   

50% 

Due to Covid-19 

Feedback was not 

logged for Qtr 1 and 

we responded to all 

N/A      

L728 Percentage of the gross 
internal area of the investment 
estate currently let 

98.16%      

L168 Income per car park P&D 
ticket 
 
 

 June £1.69 Sept £1.74 
  

Dec £1.62 
 

March £1.41 
 

   
 

£1.76 

 

 July £1.79  
  

 
  

 
 

  

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



PI Code & Short Name Performance 

Data Q 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q2 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q3 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Performance 

Data Q4 

2019/20 & 

2020/21 

Year 

End 

Target 

Year 

End 

Result 

Current 

Target 

Latest Note & 

History 

 

customers 

explaining why we 

were not logging 

feedback at that 

time 

L997 Customer Service 

Satisfaction % 

95% 92% 93% 93% 90% 93%  

90% 

 

83%    90%  

L998 Media Satisfaction % 

Annual 

     

Annual  90% 100% 90% 

 

 

Environmental Health & Housing 

 

LEHH014 Food Hygiene 

Interventions Completed 

91 301 457 796 646 796  ALL AES 

interventions.  Covid-

19 prevented the 

completion of any 

onsite food 

inspections as per 

best advice. 

16    892  

LEHH015 Percentage of Food 

Hygiene Due Interventions 

Completed 

10.2% 

 

43.8% 66.3% 88.7% 100% 88.7% 100 16/646=2.5% 

2.5% 

 

   100%  

162 165 113 166  606 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



LEHH016 Housing Options - 

Number of Homelessness 

Prevented & Relieved 

102      Data 

only 
50 Relief, 52 

Prevention 

LEHH017 Housing Options - 

Number of Households 

Accommodated in Temporary 

Accommodation 

24 37 

 

29 

 

30   

121 

Data 

Only 

50 Relief, 52 

Prevention 

 

36 

     

LEHH019 Housing Standards - 

Number of DFG's Completed & 

Monies Paid 

20 

 

68 104 167  167 Data 

only 

Total value - 

£147,988.09 

30 

 

     

LEHH026 Number of NDC Lets 

Through DHC 

70 71 87 88   Data 

only 
 

 

 

48      

LEHH020 Housing Standards – 

the level of unmet demand for 

DFGs 

269,616 163,468 293,164 361,260   Data 

only 

 

£366,156      Data 

only 

 

 
 
 

2. Constitution Context  
 

Appendix and 
paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

5.5 Delegated 
 

3. Statement of Internal Advice 
 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



3.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors and officers. 
 

 

Author: Sarah Higgins     Date: 13th August 2020  Reference: Executive Performance Report September 2020 

 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix E



Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 

Date: 1ST SEPTEMBER 2020 

TOPIC: ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 
2019/20 

REPORT BY: CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review 
and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is 
important in that respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for 
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies 
previously approved by members.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  The Committee is asked to recommend to full Council that: 

 The annual treasury management report for 2019/20 be noted; 

 The actual 2019/20 prudential and treasury indicators be approved. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2019/20. This report meets the 
requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
(the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code). 

3.2 During 2019/20 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full Council 
should receive the following reports: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 25/02/2019) 

 a mid year treasury update report (Council 20/11/2019) 

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report) 

This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirements under the Code to 
give prior scrutiny to all the above treasury management reports by the Policy 
Development Committee before they were reported to the full Council. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



 

4. REPORT 
 

4.1  The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing  

The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be: 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant 
impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.   

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

 

£000   
2018/19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Actual 

Capital expenditure 4,298 9,011 5,454 

Financed in year (4,092) (7,751) (4,910) 

Unfinanced capital 
expenditure  

206 1,260 544 

 Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 

 

4.2 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need 

The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s 
indebtedness.  The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and 
resources used to pay for the capital spend.  It represents the 2019/20 unfinanced 
capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or other resources.   
 
Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not allowed 
to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are 
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council is required to 
make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP, to 
reduce the CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the borrowing need.  
 
The total CFR can also be reduced by: 

 the application of additional capital financing resources, (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or  

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).  

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



The Council’s 2019/20 MRP Policy, (as required by MHCLG Guidance), was 
approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2019/20. 
 
The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential 
indicator.   
 

CFR £000 
31 March 

2019 
Actual 

31 March 
2020 

Estimate  

31 March 
2020 

Actual 

Opening balance  5,009 4,711 4,711 

Add unfinanced capital 
expenditure (as above) 

206 1,260 544 

Less MRP (504) (509) (509) 

Closing balance  4,711 5,462 4,746 

 
Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing and 
the CFR, and by the authorised limit.  
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should 
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed 
the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year (2018/19) plus 
the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current 
(2019/20) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that the Council is 
not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator allowed the Council 
some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2019/20.  The 
table below highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The 
Council has complied with this prudential indicator. 
 

£000   

31 
March 
2019 

Actual 

31 
March 
2020 

Estimate  

31  
March 
2020 

Actual 

Gross borrowing 
position 

1,250 1,250 1,250 

Total CFR 4,711 5,462 4,746 

Over / (under) funding 
of CFR 

(3,461) (4,212) (3,496) 

 Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 

 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” 
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the 
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level.  The table below 
demonstrates that during 2019/20 the Council has maintained gross borrowing 
within its authorised limit.  
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached.  
 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. 
 

 2019/20 

Authorised limit £22.5m 

Maximum gross borrowing position during the year £1.25m 

Operational boundary £1.25m 

Average gross borrowing position  £1.25m 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue 
stream    

2.62% 

 

4.3 Treasury Position as at 31st March 2020 

At the beginning and the end of 2019/20 the Council’s treasury position was as 
follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at 31st March 2020, the Council had received circa £3m advanced grant funding to 
support our cash flows during the 2020/21 financial year as a result of the covid-19 
outbreak.  

 

 

 

DEBT PORTFOLIO 

£000 

31 March 
2019 

Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

31 March 
2020 

 Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Total debt 1,250 2.03% 1,250 2.04% 

CFR 4,711  4,746  

Over / (under) 
borrowing 

(3,461)  (3,496)  

Total investments 9,849 0.57% 17,121 0.71% 

Net 
debt/(investments) 

(8,599)  (15,871)  

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



 

 The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows: 

 
31 March 2019 

actual 

2019/20 
Estimate 

limits 

31 March 2020 
actual 

Under 12 months  £0m 60% £0.75m (60%) 

12 months and within 24 
months 

£0.75m (60%) 60% £0m 

24 months and within 5 years £0m 100% £0m 

5 years and within 10 years £0.50m (40%) 100% £0.50m (40%) 

10 years and above £0m 90% £0m 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All investments were for maturities less than one year  

 

During 2019/20, the Council made no material non-treasury investments in property 
with the sole view of generating an income stream.  

  

4.4 The Strategy for 2019/20 

Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk - Investment returns 
remained low during 2019/20.   The expectation for interest rates within the treasury 
management strategy for 2019/20 was that Bank Rate would stay at 0.75% during 
2019/20 as it was not expected that the MPC would be able to deliver on an increase 
in Bank Rate until the Brexit issue was finally settled.  However, there was an 
expectation that Bank Rate would rise after that issue was settled, but would only rise 
to 1.0% during 2020.   

Rising concerns over the possibility that the UK could leave the EU at the end of 
October 2019 caused longer term investment rates to be on a falling trend for most of 
April to September. They then rose after the end of October deadline was rejected by 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 

£000 

31 March 
2019 

Actual  

 

31 March 
2020 

Actual 

Treasury investments   

Banks 8,560 16,250 

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS 8,560 16,250 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



the Commons but fell back again in January before recovering again after the 31 
January departure of the UK from the EU.  When the coronavirus outbreak hit the UK 
in February/March, rates initially plunged but then rose sharply back up again due to 
a shortage of liquidity in financial markets.  As longer term rates were significantly 
higher than shorter term rates during the year, value was therefore sought by placing 
longer term investments where cash balances were sufficient to allow this.  

While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms 
of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial 
crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial 
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are now 
far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions. 

Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of 
using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing 
externally from the financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an 
additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and investment rates. Such 
an approach has also provided benefits in terms of reducing the counterparty risk 
exposure, by having fewer investments placed in the financial markets.  

 

Two emergency cuts in Bank Rate from 0.75% occurred in March 2020, first to 
0.25% and then to 0.10%, as it was clear that the coronavirus outbreak posed a huge 
threat to the economy of the UK. It also had the potential to impact on the Council’s 

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



cash flows and treasury strategy for 2020/21. Further information will be included in 
the next Mid-Year Treasury Strategy Report for 20/21.     

Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk - During 2019-20, the 

Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant that the capital 
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully funded with loan 
debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was used 
as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as investment returns were low 
and minimising counterparty risk on placing investments also needed to be 
considered. 

The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able to 
avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of maturing 
debt. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer therefore monitored 
interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon the 
following principles to manage interest rate risks  

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and 
short term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would have been 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term 
borrowing would have been considered. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
long and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the 
USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in 
inflation risks, then the portfolio position would have been re-appraised.  Most 
likely, fixed rate funding would have been drawn whilst interest rates were 
lower than they were projected to be in the next few years. 

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term fixed 
borrowing rates during 2019/20 and the two subsequent financial years.  Variable, or 
short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing over the period.   

 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View       31.3.20

Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

3 Month LIBID 0.45 0.40 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30

6 Month LIBID 0.60 0.55 0.50 0.45 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40

12 Month LIBID 0.75 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55

5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70

50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50  

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



 

HM Treasury has imposed two changes in the margins over gilt yields for PWLB 
rates in 2019-20 without any prior warning; the first on 9 October 2019, added an 
additional 1% margin over gilts to all PWLB rates.  That increase was then partially 
reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020, at the same time as the 
Government announced in the Budget a programme of increased spending on 
infrastructure expenditure. It also announced that there would be a consultation with 
local authorities on possibly further amending these margins; this ends on 4 June. It 
is clear that the Treasury intends to put a stop to local authorities borrowing money 
from the PWLB to purchase commercial property if the aim is solely to generate an 
income stream. 

Following the changes on 11 March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current 
situation is as follows: -  

 

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps) 

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 

There is likely to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years 
as it will take national economies a prolonged period to recover all the momentum 
they will lose in the sharp recession that will be caused during the coronavirus shut 
down period. Inflation is also likely to be very low during this period and could even 
turn negative in some major western economies during 2020-21.  

 

 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



 

 

4.5 Borrowing Outturn  

Due to cash flow balances and investment concerns, both counterparty risk and low 
investment returns, no new external borrowing was undertaken during the year.  

The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.  

No debt rescheduling was done during the year as it was not a viable option.  

 

4.6 Investment Outturn 

Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by HMCLG 
guidance, which was implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 25th February 2019.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing 
investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main 
credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data (such as rating 
outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).   

The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties. 

 

Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources 
and cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows: 

 

Balance Sheet Resources 
(£000) 

31 March 2019 31 March 2020 

General Fund Balance 1,161 1,161 

Earmarked reserves 5,230 5,336 

Provisions 990 763 

Usable capital receipts/grants 2,389 3,168 

Total 9,770 10,428 

 

Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance of 
£20.8m of internally managed funds.  The internally managed funds earned £143,315 
interest at an average rate of return of 0.71%.  The comparable performance 
indicator is the average 7-day LIBID rate, which was 0.54%. This compares with a 
budget assumption of £70,000 investment interest. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
  
 5.1 As detailed in the report. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



 

 

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

 
6.1   There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report, as 

the purpose of the report is to present the Council’s financial position only.  

7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

8.1 This report contains no confidential information under the provisions of 
Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

9.1 Background papers will be available for inspection and will be kept by the 
author of the report. 

 
10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 
 

 10.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate     
Councillors and Officers. 

 
 

 

Author: Jon Triggs, Head of Resources   Date: 10th August 2020 

Reference: T:\Technical\Adam\Treasury Management\ TM Annual Report 2019 20.doc 

Article or 
Appendix and 
paragraph  

Referred or 
delegated 
power?  

Part 4 
Financial 
Procedure 
Rules 
(Article 13.8)  
 
Article 4.4  

Delegated  

Page 58

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 

Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: STRATEGY & RESOURCES 

Date: 1 September 2020 

TOPIC: APPROVAL & RELEASE OF S106 PUBLIC OPEN 
SPACE FUNDS – SOUTH MOLTON AND COMBE 
MARTIN. 

REPORT BY: PROJECT, PROCUREMENT AND OPEN SPACE 
OFFICER 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report seeks to allocate S106 public open space funds towards projects in 
South Molton and Combe Martin. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Strategy & Resources allocates: 

2.1.1 £9,001.20 to South Molton Rugby Club towards the drainage works at South 
Molton Rugby Club. 

2.1.2 £10,000 to Combe Martin Parish Council towards the cost of the clubhouse 
refurbishment at Combe Martin Football Club. 

2.2 Subject to approval of 2.1.1 & 2.1.2 above, that Strategy & Resources 
Committee recommends Council vary the capital programme by £19,001.20 
and that funds be released, subject to a Funding Agreement upon such terms 
and conditions as may be agreed by the Senior Solicitor, for external projects.  

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 To allocate funds in line with the requirement of S106 agreements. 

3.2 To protect and enhance public open space, including land and buildings. 

4 REPORT 

4.1 South Molton Rugby Club – Pitch Drainage Works 

South Molton Rugby Club have three pitches distributed across three sites in 
the town used by approximately 40 adults and 200 juniors on a weekly basis.  
Regular pitch works and improvements are required to ensure these grass 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



playing surfaces are maintained to a high standard and fit for purpose.  Without 
new and regular drainage works, grass pitches would not be playable and 
could become damaged.  Carrying out these works will allow more playing time 
on the pitches and ensure they do not become flooded resulting in limited or no 
use. 

4.2 Combe Martin Parish Council /Combe Martin Football Club – Clubhouse 
Refurbishment 

Combe Martin Parish Council own Combe Martin Football Club site.  The two 
organisations are working together to develop and deliver an ambitious range 
of phased projects at the facility summarised below. 

Phase 1 – Refurbishment of doors, windows and roof 

Phase 2 – Muga and equipment store 

Phase 3 – Changing rooms, car park and ancillary facilities 

The club has grown over the last number of years and now has 80 regular 
junior club members with a boys and girls participating. Improving the facilities 
will mean the club can provide wider access to the community and protect the 
structure of the clubhouse, which supports activities on and off the pitch.    

This report seeks to allocate £10,000 to phase 1 of the project, for which the 
Parish Council has secured a quotation and works are scheduled to commence 
at the earliest possible convenience.   

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 South Molton Rugby Club – Pitch Drainage Works 

Financial: The total project cost is £9,001.20 

That £9,001.20 be funded from the S106 capital budget from the following 
sources: 

Development 
Description 

Application Number Amount 

Land at Greenacres, 
Poltimore Road, South 
Molton 

62450 £9001.20 

 Total £9,001.20 

Any overspend be met by the South Molton Rugby Club. 

5.2 Combe Martin Football Club – Clubhouse Refurbishment 

Financial: The total project cost is £10,000, including a £248.51 contingency. 

That £10,000 be funded from S106 capital budget from the following sources: 

Page 60

Agenda Item 9



Development 
Description 

Application Number Amount 

Lavercombe 63055 £10,000 

 Total £10,000 

Any overspend be met by the Combe Martin Football Club. 

 

6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article or Appendix 
and paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

Part 3. Annexe 1.  
1 (d) 

Delegated 

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

7.1  This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the 
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1 The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of 
the report. 

9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 
Councillors and Officers. 

Author: S.Hambleton   Date: 28 July 2020 
Reference: I:\Projects\Open Space & S106\Reports\Strategy & 

Resources\2020\September 2020\S&R Report South Molton 28.07.20.docx 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
 

REGISTER OF URGENT 
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations – 

Chief Executive 

 
Reference No:               
 

 
 
1) SUBJECT:  Leisure Contract payment 
 
 
2) REQUESTED DECISION: 
That North Devon Council makes a grant payment of £40k to Parkwood Leisure to 
cover losses experienced in the month of May due to Covid 19 
 
 
3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS 

URGENT: 
The interim leisure contract between NDC and Parkwood Leisure contains clauses to 
address difficulties caused to both client and contractor by the COVID 19 pandemic. 
The clauses have been added to the leisure contract through a deed of variation in 
accordance with central government Public Procurement Guidance Note PPN02/20. 
 
The clauses mentioned above provide a mechanism for Parkwood to submit monthly 
claims to NDC for losses experienced during the months of April – June 2020.  
Parkwood’s claim showed a loss of £48k in May. NDC’s Head of Resources has 
scrutinised the claim and is agreeable to a payment of £40k to Parkwood for May. 
 
A decision on this matter will not wait until the next relevant Committee. 
 
 
4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:  (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial 

implications.  If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed 
budget.  If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be 
financed). 

 
 
 
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED: 
We could not pay and run the risk of an operator struggling or even failing.  Leisure 
provision is so important to the ND area, that prospect is not favourable. 
 
 
6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED: 
 
None 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED: 
 
N/A 
 
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those 

which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4 
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution): 

 
 
Previous Urgent Decision 
 
 
 
 
 
10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN: 
 

The following have been consulted on this urgent decision: 
 

Consultee Consulted 
Yes/No 

Date 

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader) Y 3/8 

Chair of Committee (with the 
Authority to take the decision) 

(or Vice-Chair) 

Y 3/8 

Lead Member Y 3/8 

Ward Member(s) N/A  

Head of Service (name)   

Finance   

Legal   

 
 
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF   

EXECUTIVE: 
Mark Kentell 
 
12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE:  YES  
 
 
13) DATE OF DECISION:  
3/8/20 
 
 
14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: 

Page 64

Agenda Item 10



I have raised this informally with SR Committee members and there was no dissent 
to the suggestion.  Knowledge of the region shows that other Councils are also 
providing financial support to leisure providers. 

 
15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE: 
 
1 September 2020 

 
GUIDANCE NOTES 
 
 
NOTE:  
 
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS: 
 
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with 

the interested parties.  
 
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of 

the local Councillor (s). 
 

3. The Chief Executive will make his decision. 
 
 
 
 
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION  
 
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive: 
 
Urgent Decision Making  
 
3.48 To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in 

cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval  
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:  

 
3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and 

the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and  
 
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application  

submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the 
Gambling Act 2005, and  

 
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the 

next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 

Date: 1st September 2020 

TOPIC: SEVEN BRETHREN – AGREEING A WAY FORWARD 

REPORT BY: HEAD OF PLACE / REGENERATION MANAGER 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In November 2017 North Devon Council were awarded £2.2 million of Land 
Release Fund to help bring forward 245 residential units at Seven Brethren, 
Barnstaple. £1 million was secured towards highway junction improvements 
and £1.2 million towards delivering flood defences/raising of site levels.  We 
have now received all of the monies.  Approximately £175,000 has been 
spent, with the agreement of the Local Government Association (LGA), on 
preparing a hybrid planning application for this scheme.  

1.2 The funding awarded cannot be used for any other site. 

1.3 The Land Release Fund is a government initiative to assist in unlocking sites 
and accelerating the delivery of housing.  The Fund expects this land to be 
released for housing no later than December 2020.  Securing a delivery 
partner is one of the definitions of ‘land release’ for the purposes of this fund. 

1.4 In August 2018 a report was taken to Executive seeking member approval to 
use the Homes England ‘delivery partner panel’ to secure a delivery partner 
for this site.   We went through a detailed tender process but were unable to 
secure a partner in this way. 

1.5 In November 2019 a report was taken to Strategy and Resources Committee 
and members resolved that the Chief Executive be authorised to use an 
alternative method of bringing forward this site for development, should use of 
the Homes England ‘delivery partner panel’ prove unsuccessful. 

1.6 Prior to Covid 19, we were preparing to go back out to the whole of market to 
secure a delivery partner (rather than restricting ourselves to those on the 
Homes England panel) and Homes England were separately marketing their 
two sites in Barnstaple.  We did not commence the procurement process. 

1.7 Prior to Covid 19, the hybrid planning application for up to 245 homes, 
replacement of the long stay car park and temporary toleration site had been 
uploaded to the planning portal but was not submitted. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Option 1 - Members confirm they wish to proceed with the submission of a 
planning application and to procure a delivery partner for residential 
development on the Seven Brethren site, in line with the funding requirements 
of the Land Release Fund. 

2.2 Option 2 – Members confirm that housing is no longer considered the right 
solution for Seven Brethren or that the housing numbers required by the Land 
Release Fund (LRF) are too high and alternatives should be investigated. 
This will require the return of the remaining LRF funding.   

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 In light of the economic impacts of Covid 19 it is considered necessary to 
sense check previous decisions and confirm the way forward for this site. 

3.2 The funding timetable for this project is very stringent.  We will need to move 
forward with a re-procurement process immediately if we are to meet LRF 
funding requirements. 

4 REPORT 

4.1 This report has been brought forward in order to allow a re-evaluation by 
members of the plans for the residential development of the Seven Brethren 
site in Barnstaple. Covid 19 has disrupted the economy, which is officially now 
in recession, and the negative impact of the pandemic is likely to continue for 
many years.  Covid 19 triggered a temporary halt to development and the 
housing market.  Whilst the Seven Brethren site is likely to be impacted no 
more or less than other residential developments opportunities it has taken 
considerable time to bring it to this point and the first detailed tender process 
using the Homes England delivery partner panel was unsuccessful. 

4.2 The timeline for progressing this project is now pressing if the Land Release 
Fund grant is to be utilised, therefore, officers are seeking members’ 
endorsement to pursue the existing scheme.  There has been insufficient time 
to allow examination of alternatives to the existing proposals.  The emerging 
Barnstaple Town Centre Vision does not propose any alternative uses for the 
site. 

Background 

4.3 Proposals for development of a new leisure centre on Seven Brethren 
provided the Council with the opportunity to regenerate the site of the existing 
centre and adjacent areas and deliver a high quality residential scheme on 
this prominent riverside site, close to the town centre.  The replacement 
leisure centre build has been approved by the Council and has planning 
permission. The build of the new leisure centre is due to start on site in 
September 2020 with an 18 month build programme.  The existing leisure 
centre would be vacated upon opening of the new centre. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 11



4.4 The Land Release Fund (LRF) is a government initiative managed by the 
Local Government Association to assist in unlocking sites and accelerating 
the delivery of housing.  In November 2017 North Devon Council were 
awarded £2.2 million of LRF to help bring forward 245 residential units on the 
site. £1 million was secured towards highway junction improvements and £1.2 
million towards delivering flood defences/raising of site levels although some 
flexibility may be afforded in this regard. 

4.5 The Fund expects this land to be released for housing no later than December 
2020.  Securing a delivery partner is one of the definitions of ‘land release’ for 
the purposes of this fund. 

4.6 In August 2018 a report was taken to Executive seeking member approval to 
use the Homes England ‘delivery partner panel’ to secure a delivery partner 
for this site.   We went through a detailed tender process but were unable to 
secure a partner in this way. 

4.7 In November 2019 a report was taken to Strategy and Resources Committee 
and members resolved that the Chief Executive be authorised to use an 
alternative method of bringing forward this site for development, should use of 
the Homes England ‘delivery partner panel’ prove unsuccessful. 

4.8 A hybrid planning application (part outline/part full planning application) has 
been prepared and awaits submission on the planning portal.  £175k has 
been spent of the £2.2 million in preparing this planning application. The 
housing site includes the remainder of the events area not occupied by the 
new leisure centre, the long and short stay car parks, the site of the existing 
leisure centre and the existing toleration site for gypsy and travellers.  The 
application also includes land adjacent to the new AGP pitch to provide a 
replacement long stay car park and replacement temporary gypsy and 
travellers toleration site.  This has taken some time as the development 
required an Environmental Impact Assessment.  Following member and public 
consultation on the proposals the scheme that has been prepared identifies 
the delivery of 227 homes – a mixture of apartments and 3 storey town 
houses.  The indicative masterplan and design and access statement are 
appended to this report.   

4.9 The application would replace the long stay car parking spaces on a like for 
like basis.  The Council are in ongoing discussions with the Fair but the 
proposed long stay car park and events area (temporary toleration site) has 
been designed to accommodate the loading requirements of the Fair and to 
ensure no unnecessary obstacles that would further hamper its use. 

4.10 The planning application was due to be submitted in March 2020 but was held 
back in light of the Covid 19 pandemic.  Likewise we were preparing to go 
back out to the whole of market to secure a delivery partner (rather than 
restricting ourselves to those on the Homes England panel) and Homes 
England were separately marketing their two sites in Barnstaple.  We did not 
commence the procurement process. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11



4.11 The Local Government Association have acknowledged the impact of Covid 
19 and will work with us to ensure land release and delivery of these homes.  
The land release date has been extended until December 2020 and it is likely 
that this can be extended to the end of March 2021.  The LGA are aware that 
we are very unlikely to meet December 2020. 

4.12 The LGA have confirmed that we cannot transfer the fund to any other project 
i.e. it either has to be spent at Seven Brethren or we must pay the money 
back. 

4.13 It is now necessary for us to determine how we proceed on Seven Brethren. 

There are two key options: 

- Option 1 - We proceed as planned, submit the planning application and go 
to the market to secure a delivery partner for the site (or another means of 
delivering the development).   

- Option 2 - We no longer consider housing is the right solution for Seven 
Brethren or that the housing numbers required by the Land Release Fund 
(LRF) are too high and alternatives should be investigated. This will 
require the return of the remaining LRF funding.  A separate project 
considering options for this site would need to be set up. 

4.14 Option 1 – Risk - Should members agree that we go back to market there is 
no guarantee that we will secure a delivery partner for this site or that we will 
receive a capital receipt; however, in a pre Covid 19 scenario, our consultants 
who were advising us during the procurement process considered that we 
should be able to at least ‘break even’.  The one tender return we received 
previously was not viable.  In this scenario we may still have to return the 
remaining LRF monies. 

4.15 Option 2 - Should members resolve that we do not progress with the existing 
scheme and return the LRF funding we need to consider the future for this 
site, including the existing leisure centre building, which was to be demolished 
as part of the site preparation for residential development.  The demolition of 
the existing leisure centre is not being carried out as part of the new leisure 
centre project.  It is likely external expertise would be needed to assist with 
this. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Internal resource will be required from Economic Development, the Property 
Team, Legal, the Project and Procurement Officer and Planning.  

5.2 We need to fund the planning application. 

5.3 It is likely that we will need some specialist advice to assist us in selecting the 
appropriate development partner or an options paper for the future of this site. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 11



6 EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment Summary form has been completed for 
this project and this report does not affect its conclusions.  The report has 
been updated confirming this. 

7 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article or Appendix 
and paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

Part 3. Annexe 1 
(b) and (d) 

Delegated Power 

8 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

8.1   This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

9.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

o Homes England – Legal papers 

o One Public Estate Phase 6 – Devon and Torbay OPE Partnership – OPE 
and LRF Project Templates. 

o Planning application documents 

These background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 
of the report.   

 
10 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

10.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 
Councillors and Officers. 

Author: Regeneration Manager - SarahJane Mackenzie-Shapland  
Date: 12th August 2020 

Page 71

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SEVEN BRETHREN
DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT

December 2019

Page 73

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Report No Written By Checked By Issued

18091/ D&A  AC MV 06.12.19

CONTENTS

Page 74

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 3

1. INTRODUCTION
2. ASSESSING THE CONTEXT
3. EVALUATION
4. DESIGN
5. CONCLUSIONS
6.  ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES

The Consultation Process
Objectives of Involvement
Publicity
Summary of comments

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

Purpose of the Document
Document Structure
Proposal Overview
The Site
Temporary Gypsy and 
Travellers site / Events Space

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5

1.

2.

3.

5
5
7
7
7

29
29
30
32

9
10
12

14
14
16
18

20
22
24
26

Planning Policy Context
Site in Context
Seven Brethren is Changing
Surrounding Character Zones and 
Conservation Areas
Landscape and Visual Context
Local Character
Transport and Movement
Water & Drainage
Landscape
Topography and Contamination
Water and Drainage
Ecology

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4

2.5
2.6
2.7

2.8
2.9
2.10
2.11

4.

5.

6.

35

39
41

44
46
48
50
52
54
54
56

56
58
58
60
62
64

68
70

74

74

78

80
82
86
90
92

4.1

4.2
4.3

Summary of Constraints & 
Opportunities
Riverside Design Concepts
Masterplan Design Progression

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8

5.9
5.10
5.11
5.12
5.13
5.14

6.1
6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6
6.7
6.8
6.9
6.10

Placemaking Principles
Concept Plan
The proposal
Amount of Use
Scale
Access and Movement
Parking
Wider Access and Future Movement 
Network
Proposed Long Stay Car Park
Private /Public Space
Refuse Strategy
Land Raising Strategy
Landscape Strategy 
The Long Bridge Public Space

Plot Typologies
Plot Type A - Formal River Fronting 
Terraces and Formal Crescent
Plot Type B - Informal Terraces 
Perpendicular to River
Private Gardens for Plot Type’s A 
and B
Plot Type’s C.1 -Northern Gateway 
Apartment Building and Retirement 
Apartment Building & PLOT TYPE 
C.2 Southern Apartment Building
External Walls and Materials
Roof Zone and Materials
Windows, Doors and Daylight
External Details and Colour Palette
Sustainability Agenda

Page 75

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



This Design and Access Statement has been prepared 
in support of a Hybrid application for (a) Full 
application for the provision of a replacement long 
stay car park and a temporary toleration site and (b) 
Outline application for up to 245 dwellings together 
with all associated infrastructure including highway 
works, increased ground levels, footpath and cycleway, 
drainage, flood defence works, landscaping, nature 
conservation, public open space, utilities, vehicle 
parking and demolition of the existing leisure centre.

1. INTRODUCTION

Page 76

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 5

1.1  PURPOSE OF THE DOCUMENT

This document draws together the conclusions of the consultant 
team to explain and justify the development proposal. 

This document is part of a comprehensive package of information submitted 
with the planning application and provides a framework of guidance and 
specification to help shape and control elements of the development. It will 
explain the proposals in a concise and structured way to ensure that those 
assessing the application will understand the rationale that underpins it.

1.2 DOCUMENT STRUCTURE

The document is structured as follows:

INTRODUCTION
This chapter describes the location and basic features of the site. It also outlines the 
National and Local planning context affecting the site’s development, and identifies 
the key local planning issues which will help inform how the site could be developed.

ASSESSING THE CONTEXT
This chapter appraises the wider and site specific contexts relevant to the development 
of the site. The wider contexts investigated relate to local character, landscape 
setting, transport and movement routes, and local facilities. An examination of the 
site-specific contexts provides assessment of constraints and opportunities related to 
access, movement, landscape, topography, drainage, ecology, heritage, and utilities.

INVOLVEMENT
This chapter provides an overview of community consultation and its influence to 
development. The position of the local authority is also outlined in this chapter.

EVALUATION
This chapter summarises the process of assessment and involvement to provide a concise 
articulation of the site’s constraints and opportunities that will inform the design.

DESIGN
This chapter summarises the design principles and outlines the fixed and 
illustrative proposals. The Vision section explores how the site’s distinctive 
features might be enhanced through the design process, and the Concept 
section explores a methodology of access, movement, and land use, based 
on the contextual assessment and conveyed as a conceptual plan.

The Parameter Plans presented are to be fixed as part of the outline planning 
permission, including Land Use and Access. Illustrative design strategies are then 
explored to explain how the principles and parameters will deliver a high-quality place.

1 .  I N T R O D U C T I O N

Page 77

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN6

LONG BRIDGE

RIVER TAW

DEVELOPMENT SITE

EXISTING LEISURE CENTRE

ANCHORW RETAIL PARK

TAW WHARF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED AREA FOR RELOCATED 
LONG STAY CAR PARK

BARNSTAPLE  
RAIL STATION

A361

Above - Aerial Location Plan

Page 78

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 7

1 .  I N T R O D U C T I O N

1.3  PROPOSAL OVERVIEW

Over the last decade Barnstaple has been 
evolving with new public spaces and riverside 
development. Seven Brethren is identified as a 
key strategic location which has considerable 
redevelopment opportunities. The area has an 
attractive river frontage setting on the western 
bank of the River Taw, is close to Barnstaple 
Town Centre, and has excellent links with the 
surrounding area including the Exeter – Barnstaple 
railway line & the National Cycle Network.

The development will provide an attractive, 
connected and distinctive new community 
where people will aspire to live.

In summary, this would provide the following 
approximate level of development:

• Up to 245 dwellings for a mix of tenures 
catering for a range of lifestyles.

• 30% Affordable units
• Creation of public open spaces and landscaping
• Sustainable drainage measures
• New accesses for vehicles, and enhanced 

riverfront pedestrians and cyclists routes

1.4  THE SITE

The site is characterised by two distinct areas, the 
northern area which currently comprises the North 
Devon Leisure Centre (soon to be re-located 
south of the application area, extending the Tarka 
Tennis Centre), the Seven Brethren Short and 
Long Stay Pay & Display Car Park, a large area of 
underutilise tarmac hard standing and the Temporary 
Toleration site. This northern area is bounded by 
the River Taw to the east, Seven Brethren Bank 
Road to the west and the site allocated for the re-
location of the new Leisure Centre to the south.

The northern part of the site will form 
the area predominately associated with 
the outline planning application. 

This report will largely be focused on the northern 
area of the redline which is proposed to bring 
forward the housing, and associated infrastructure. 

The southern area of the redline will provide the 
full application aspect of the submission, including 
the replacement Long Stay Pay and Display Car 
Park and the Temporary Travellers  Toleration site.

The site is bounded by a public footpath and sports 
pitches to the east, the recycling centre to the north 
/ west, public open space to the west and south and 
the railway line to the far west of the boundary.

The site is situated to the east of  Seven Brethren.  
There is a long-term aspiration for the role and 
image of Seven Brethren to change, and become an 
attractive mixed use area, that makes the most of its 
waterside location and supports an increased range of 
activities, including; residential, offices, retail, leisure 
facilities and other economic uses. These proposals 
are crucial in this aspiration and will set a precedent 
for change and regeneration not only in Seven 
Brethren but also for Barnstaple and the wider region.

1.5  TEMPORARY GYPSY AND  
TRAVELLERS SITE/EVENTS SPACE

The proposed residential development incorporates 
a site, which has been used by gyspy and travellers.  
As such, this application includes a temporary space 
for the re-provision of this facility on a like for 
like basis.  This is only a temporary facility.  North 
Devon Council are committed both through the 
adopted Local plan and member agreement at 
Executive to provide a permanent toleration and 
transit site, which will provide the required services 
for gypsy and travellers in the long term.  Work 
is ongoing to secure this appropriate provision.  

The proposed long stay car park and associated 
events space, also represents one of the options 
being discussed with the Showman’s guild to 
ensure a long term site for the fair is secured.

Page 79

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN8

This chapter appraises the various contextual 
elements influencing the development of the
site, including the planning and access policy 
context, local context and site-specific context.

2.  ASSESSING THE CONTEXT

Page 80

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 9

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

2.1 PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT

2.1 The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan was adopted 
in October 2018 and its purpose is to set out the long-term 
vision for how the towns, villages and countryside of northern 
Devon will develop and evolve in the period up to the year 
2031.  This Local Plan forms part of the statutory Development 
Plan for North Devon and Torridge District Council; it will 
be used to guide planning decisions and will be the starting 
point for decisions on all new development proposals. 

2.2 Policy BAR: Barnstaple Spatial Vision and Development 
Strategy forms part of the Local Plan and states that:

 “Over the period to 2031, the Local Plan will enable 
substantial growth of high quality development supported 
by necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of 
Barnstaple and its surrounding area and to strengthen 
Barnstaple’s role as a Sub-regional Centre. The spatial 
vision for Barnstaple will be delivered through:

(a) provision of a minimum of 4,139 dwellings, including 
affordable and extra care housing to meet the range 
of the communities housing needs, with associated 
development and infrastructure on a continuous basis 
during the Plan period between 2011 and 2031;

(b) provision of new site allocations of approximately 
3,165 dwellings and non-strategic housing 
sites of approximately 153 dwellings…”

2.3 The Local Plan allocates sites for housing, employment, 
retail and green space to ensure that land is available in 
appropriate locations to meet the sustainable growth 
targets set out within the Plan.  The site at Seven Brethren 
Bank is allocated within the Local Plan under Policy 
BAR13: Seven Brethren.  This policy states that: 

“(1) Land at Seven Brethren, as shown on Policies Map 1, is 
identified for regeneration and environmental enhancement 
to deliver new economic development, recreation and leisure 
uses, including enhanced pedestrian and cycle links along the 
river frontage between the Longbridge and the iron bridge.

(2) Improvements to the highway network and transport 
interchange facilities at Barnstaple railway station and 
surrounding area will enhance this gateway to the town 
and facilitate a more attractive and accessible approach 
for pedestrians and cyclists towards the town centre.

(3) Land north of the civic amenity recycling centre, as shown 
on Policies Map 1, is identified to facilitate provision of new 
footpath/cycle bridges over the A361 and railway line.”

This site forms only part of the allocation under BAR13: 
Seven Brethren and whilst the site is not allocated for 
residential uses, the spatial vision in BAR states:

“Housing and employment growth will deliver a mix of high 
quality, sustainable family and affordable housing integrated 
with new employment opportunities and key community 
infrastructure that promote greater self-sufficiency.” 

It continues: ‘Barnstaple will develop as an exemplar of 
sustainable living to become a healthier, safer and more 
prosperous town with an attractive and inclusive environment 
that protects the town’s historic character whilst capitalising 
on its built heritage. The town centre will be revitalised and 
expanded to promote a healthy and vibrant town centre 
to support its vitality, viability and economic prosperity, 
including a vibrant and diverse evening economy.’

The site is within the development boundary for Barnstaple, 
with the principle of residential development being established 
in policy ST06. It is demonstrated that this proposed residential 
development will facilitate the delivery of the site’s regeneration 
as set out in BAR13 and provide a unique opportunity for an 
exemplar of sustainable living on the water front, sited on 
the edge of the town centre, within easy walking distance 
of both the town and the station.  It is considered that a 
mix of residential units on this edge of centre site will also 
contribute to the vitality and viability of the town centre both 
during the day but also to support its night time economy.   

It is considered that to provide residential development along 
the water front of Seven Brethren will support the increasing 
leisure provision within the wider allocation and increase 
the quality of further redevelopment opportunities that 
become available within the remainder of the allocation.  

This site has not previously been considered by NDC for 
residential uses due to it being located in flood zone 3.  
However, flood defences are being upgraded at this site as 
a result of the Anchorwood bank development and will be 
further enhanced.  These together with an increased finished 
floor level across this site will ensure the development is 
safe from flooding without increasing risk elsewhere.  

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN10

2.2 THE SITE IN CONTEXT

The area of Seven Brethren benefits from a sustainable location which is 
extremely well connected, the proposed site is a short walk to Barnstaple High 
Street and benefits from sustainable transport connections, including the 
Barnstaple – Exeter railway line, Sustrans cycle route and a public footpath 
along the river, this should encourage cycle and pedestrian movement within 
and beyond Seven Brethren. There is a bus route bounding the site and 
the Barnstaple Bus Station is within 5-10 minute walk from the site. 

Barnstaple sits at the north-western end of the A361 (North Devon Link Road), 
which links the M5 (Junction 27) and Tiverton with Barnstaple and North Devon. 
In addition, the town’s railway station is the terminus for the Tarka Line, which 
links Barnstaple with Crediton and Exeter, via a number of smaller settlements. 

Within the site there is the Seven Brethren Pay & Display Car Park with the primary 
vehicular access to the Seven Brethren Car Park, located approximately 200m 
south-east of the Seven Brethren Bank junction with the A3125 (Sticklepath Terrace). 
Barnstaple Retail Park is situated to the immediate west of the site and provides a 
number of shops including a Lidl Foodstore, Curry’s / PC World, Halfords, trade 
counters, Sports Direct, Poundland, B & Q, Costa and a Tesco Extra. Adjoining the 
Seven Brethren Bank, to the west of the residential park of the site is some business 
uses, including Travis Perkins, BJ’s Value House, Jewson and Barum Auto parts. 

Situated to the south of the residential part of the site is the existing Tarka Tennis 
Centre. The new Leisure Centre is proposed as an extension to this building.

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 82

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TO BRAUNTON 
ILFRACOMBE

RIVER TAW

TO A39 

BIDEFORD

TO A361 SOUTH 
MOLTON

NEW PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE

A361

ROCK 
PARK

PROPOSED LONG 
STAY CAR PARK

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

TESCO

NEW ANCHORWOOD 
DEVELOPMENT

NEW LEISURE CENTRE 
& SWIMMING POOL

POTENTIAL NEW ARRIVAL 
SPACE AND ROUTE TO 

IMPROVED TOWN CENTRE

NEW RIVER FRONT 
PUBLIC REALM

BARNSTAPLE 
TRAIN STATION

TOWN CENTRE

BARNSTAPLE 
SQUARE

BARNSTAPLE 
BUS STATION

QUEENS 
MEDICAL 
PRACTICE

ASHLEIGH 
C OF E 

PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

PARK 
SCEONDARY 

SCHOOL

PERTOC 
COLLEGE

PROPOSED NEW HOUSING

 Site Boundary
 Seven Brethren
 Barnstaple Bus Station
 Barnstaple Train Station

 Potential Pedestrian / Cycle Link
 Railway Line
 Riverside Footpath
 Potential New Arrival Space and Improved Route to Town Centre

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 11

Above - Local Character Area Location PlanPage 83

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN12

2.3 SEVEN BRETHREN IS CHANGING

There is a long-term aspiration for Seven Brethren to become an attractive 
and vibrant mixed used area that makes the most of its waterfront location and 
supports an increased range of activities, including; residential, offices, retail, 
leisure facilities and other economic uses. The Conceptual Plan shows how the 
area could evolve in the future and demonstrates the following ambitions:

• Create a better relationship with the River Taw

• Enhance the setting of the railway station and create a better 

and more direct connection to the town centre

• Improve pedestrian and cycle connections within the area

• Enhance the setting and create a more pedestrian friendly 

space between Seven Brethren and Anchorwood Bank

• Improve the landscape setting of the area as a whole introducing 

more green open spaces, pocket parks and tree lined streets

• Create a better gateway to the town

• Creating a range of building sizes to accommodate different uses

• Larger retail units replaced with small buildings, at a more human scale

• Designing blocks, so parking is hidden
• Improve the street scheme, by ensuring active frontages on to the street

BAR 13 is the planning policy which relates to the future plan for the wider Seven 
Brethren Area. A residential scheme brought forward as the first major phase of 
change will kick start the regeneration for the whole area of Seven Brethren.

Page 84

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TO BRAUNTON 
ILFRACOMBE

RIVER TAW

TO A39 

BIDEFORD

TO A361 SOUTH 
MOLTON

A361

ROCK 
PARK

DOCTORS SURGERY

QUEENS 
MEDICAL 
PRACTICE

ASHLEIGH 
C OF E 

PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

PARK 
SCEONDARY 

SCHOOL

PERTOC 
COLLEGE

PROPOSED LONG 
STAY CAR PARK

NEW RIVER FRONT 
PUBLIC REALM

TOWN CENTRE

BARNSTAPLE 
SQUARE

BARNSTAPLE 
BUS STATION

 Site Boundary

 Basrnstaple Bus Station

 Barnstaple Train Station

 New Leisure Centre & Swimming Pool

 Tarka Tennis Centre

 Tesco

 New Anchorwood Development

 Potential Pedestrian / Cycle Link

NEW PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE

Above - Conceptual Furture Masterplan for Seven Brethren 

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 13
Page 85

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN14

2.4 SURROUNDING CHARACTER ZONES 
AND CONSERVATION AREAS 

The sites town centre location means there ia a wide variety of character zones and 
uses within close proximity to the site. The River Taw bounds Seven Brethren to 
the east, adjoing the site to the west is the Seven Bretrhen retail park, to the south 
of the site are sports facilities. To the north of the site is the Anchorwood Retail 
Park and currently under construction the Taw Wharf Riverfront Development .
There are two Conservation Areas near the site, Barnstaple Town Centre, which 
includes the Railway Station, the Long Bridge, the High Street, Boutport Street 
and  Taw Vale, located across the River from Seven Brethren. The Newport 
Conservation Area adjoins the Barnstaple Town Centre Conservation Area and 
is also partly facing the site, this area includes Rock Park and Newport Road.

2.5 LANDSCAPE & VISUAL CONTEXT

The sensitivity of the townscape character of the area to the west of the site is 
considered to be low,  comprising mainly car parks and large scale commercial and 
retail premises and the sensitivity of receptors in this area is also low. In contrast, the 
sensitivity of the character of the river and conservation area on its northeast side is 
high, as is the sensitivity of the viewers.  The North Devon Leisure Centre on site no 
longer makes a positive contribution to townscape character and visual amenity, being 
dated and the associated car park does not make the best use of a prime riverside 
location.  The most significant landscape feature of the site is its riverside setting, 
with the Barnstaple Long Bridge forming a landmark to the north and the railway 
bridge of the former Ilfracombe Branch Line (now pedestrian cycle crossing) to the 
south. The inter-tidal marsh along the frontage with the fringe of mature trees along 
the riverbank is an attractive feature and is important to the setting of the site.

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 86

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Image extacted from the LVIA Chapter of the Environmental Impact Report

Image extacted from the LVIA Chapter of the Environmental Impact Report

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 15
Page 87

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN16

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

2.6 LOCAL CHARACTER

The site is located opposite the historic town centre on the eastern side 
of the river Taw. The post-industrial area of Anchorwood lies to the north 
of the site and is currently undergoing a large regeneration strategy. To 
the south the landscape opens up to the rural landscape beyond.

Barnstaple town centre is a conservation area which contains a wide variety of 
historic buildings and different architectural styles which provide a distinctive 
character setting to the commercial and administrative centre of north Devon. 

The Severn Brethren development provides an opportunity 
to knit the town back together by:
• Responding to the historic riverside setting on the other side of 

the river in terms of scale, form, materials and gardens.
• Forming a transition between the town and the rural 

environment further south down the river.
• Forming part of the gateway to the town at the northern side of the 

site whilst responding to the post-industrial Anchorwood area and the 
new development currently under-way along the river front.

Through contextual analysis of the town, a number of distinctive character areas 
have been noted which have informed the architectural Design Code in chapter 5:
• The site lies opposite Taw Vale, a series of elegant historic river fronting 

Georgian terraces. This parade of high quality rendered town-houses command 
excellent views across the wide promenade, river, and landscape beyond. 

• At its southern end Taw Vale transitions into New Road and Park Terrace 
which form the edge of riving fronting rock park. Large brick and rendered 
3 storey Georgian and Victorian town-houses front onto the park and have 
a more individual, less formal presence than the Taw Vale terraces. 

• Running parallel behind Taw Vale is narrow Litchdon Street which has a much 
closer grain and variety of buildings than the formal Taw Vale parade. 

• To the north of the site lies the developing area of Anchorwood, which 
comprises of a new retail park, the Taw Wharf Residential Development 
and currently derelict Oliver buildings for, which a planning application 
has recently been submitted for conversion to residential. 

Page 88

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 17
Page 89

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN18

2.7 TRANSPORT AND MOVEMENT  

Hydrock have prepared both a Highways Assessment and Residential Travel 
Plan subbmiited as part of this application. The Travel Plan intended to mitigate 
transportation impacts, associated with residents and visitors following the 
redevelopment of the North Devon Leisure Centre (NDLC) site to a residential 
development of up to 245 dwellings, including a long-stay car park of 328 spaces.

There are a number of key strategic transport corridors and routes located in close 
proximity to the proposed site that facilitate traffic movements in and around 
Barnstaple. The main primary routes in relation to the redevelopment site include the 
A3125 (Link Road) that effectively connects the A361 - Barnstaple Western Bypass 
(BWB) to Longbridge via the Station Road / Sticklepath Terrace roundabout junction.

Seven Brethren Bank provides access to the proposal site, as well as an industrial 
estate, linking around to Station Road. Seven Brethren Bank extends north-west to 
south-east from the A3125 (Sticklepath Link). The carriageway is relatively wide, 
exceeding the 5.5m residential standard, a footway is provided on either side of the 
carriageway, although this is not necessarily on the edge of carriageway provision. 
It is clear that the Seven Brethren Bank highway is designed to accommodate large 
vehicle (i.e. HGV’s) movements and relatively high peak time traffic volumes.

Walking is used to access a wide variety of destinations including educational facilities, 
shops, and places of work, normally within a range of up to 2 miles’ (3.2km) and walking 
and rambling can also be undertaken as a leisure activity, often over longer distance.

Cycling is used for accessing a variety of different destinations, including educational 
facilities shops and places of work, up to a range of around 5 miles (8km). Cycling 
is also undertaken as a leisure activity, often over much longer distances and 5 
miles (8km) is a distance that could easily be cycled by a majority of people.

The Tarka Trail is a combination of Footpaths and Bridleways with a large section 
being an old, converted railway line. The Tarka Trail between Braunton and 
Meeth is a section of flat, tarmacked, unused railway which provides 30 miles of 
traffic free cycling - the longest stretch in the UK. The Tarka Trail shares some 
sections with the NCN routes discussed previously and outlined below. 

The National Cycle Network currently runs along the western site boundary, 
the proposals include re-routing this segment of the cycleway along the river 
on the eastern boundary.  Route 3 is a long distance route which connects 
Land’s End in Cornwall to Bristol, via St. Austell, Bude, Barnstaple, Taunton 
and Wells. The route is also referred to as the ‘West Country Way’. 

Also within close proixmity to the site is Route 27 - known as the ‘Devon Coast 
to Coast’ cycle route, which runs from Ilfracombe to Plymouth, following the 
Tarka Trail for the first part of the route between Ilfracombe and Barnstaple. 

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 90

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 19
Page 91

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN20

2.8 LANDSCAPE

WIDER LANDSCAPE SETTING
The landscape within the wider context will form the main inspiration and influence 
of these proposals. Rock Park is located on the opposite side of the River Taw from 
the proposal site, and there is open countryside to the south of the application area.

Most of the site is currently tarmac hard-standing and through these proposals there is 
an opportunity to create areas of new riverside parkland entwined between the proposed 
development blocks and incorporating existing trees, and retaining biodiversity networks.

ARBORICULTURE
The arboriculture survey has indicated which trees should be preserved on 
site. It has been a key aspiration for the good quality trees to be maintained, 
especially those along the river edge as they form an important part 
of the area’s landscape character. The location of the flood prevention 
work has been designed to enable these trees to be retained. 

Another group of valuable trees are the London Planes located south of the existing 
Leisure Centre. It is also planned for these trees to be retained within the proposals.
There are several areas of the site where careful consideration will be required in terms 
of the future management of the tree stock. Four particular areas of note are the belt 
of riverside trees to the south-east of the leisure centre (area A1), the line of trees 
along the northern boundary of the toleration site (area A6), the avenue of trees either 
side of Seven Brethren Bank (groups G3 through 3 G7), the emergent and existing 
woodland areas between the recycling centre and the river (A10 through A17), and 
finally the land to the west of the stream (areas A18 through A20, plus group G8).

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 92

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



KEY
Development site boundary
Existing trees / vegetation

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 21

ROCK 
PARK

Page 93

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN22

2.9  TOPOGRAPHY AND CONTAMINATION

CONTAMINATION
Historical mapping and detailed ground investigations show that the site was formerly 
used for landfill, therefore, current ground conditions comprise organic landfill waste 
and elevated levels of ground gas.  Where areas of exposed soils (such as landscaping, 
gardens and planting) occur within the proposed development, clean material will 
be imported and used to ‘cap’ any potential contamination on site to ensure there 
is no risk of future site users coming into contact with contaminated soils.  

As well as this, ground gas protection measures will be incorporated into the 
design to ensure that there is no risk of ground gas to the development. The 
area proposed for residential development will require 0.6m capping.

TOPOGRAPHY
The site is relatively flat. The north part of the site is the lowest area at a 
approximate level of 5.5m. The south part of the site raises to 7.5m.

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 94

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 23

KEY
Development site boundary
5.5m
6m
6.5m
7m
7.5m

ROCK 
PARK

THE LONG B
RID

GE
TAW VALE

Page 95

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN24

2.10  WATER & DRAINAGE

The River Taw is located along the eastern boundary of the site and flows in a north-
westerly direction before discharging into the Bristol Channel approximately 12 km west. 

The EA’s flood map shows that the site is currently located within Flood 
Zone 3 and therefore, flood risk from rivers and sea is considered to be high 
(see plan on opposite page).  Currently a flood wall is located along the 
northern stretch of the extent of the river that is adjacent to the site.  

Currently the site is brownfield and any surface water runoff generated 
within the site pools within the depressions within the car park and 
flows in a north-easterly direction into the River Taw. 

As part of this scheme and a nearby scheme, the current flood defences that are 
located along the river bank will be upgraded to provide protection to the site including 
protection with the added effects of sea level rising as a result of climate change.  

As well as this, all residential dwelling will be raised to have floor levels above the 
predicted flood level to ensure occupants are safe in the unlikely event of failure in flood 
defences.  The proposed surface water drainage strategy includes discharging surface 
water to the River Taw tidal water at an unrestricted rate, as accepted by the EA.   
Sustainable drainage (SuDs) features including attenuation basins and swales which have 
been incorporated into the design to ensure there is suitable water quality treatment 
prior to it entering the watercourse and the drainage strategy includes splitting the 
site into two separate drainage catchments due to the topography of the site.

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 96

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



CREATE OUR OWN GRAPHIC 
VERSION

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 25

KEY
Development site boundary
Flood defence bank
Flood defence bank offset

ROCK 
PARK

THE LONG B
RID

GE
TAW VALE

Page 97

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN26

2.11 ECOLOGY

The development site comprises a mixture of buildings (North Devon Leisure 
Centre), hard-standing, bare ground, grassland, tall ruderals, scrub, broad-leaved 
woodland and trees on the western banks of the River Taw.  The Taw-Torridge 
Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is located approximately 550 
m north-west of the site designated for its importance to overwintering birds, 
migratory populations of migratory birds and presence of rare plants. 

The habitats present support foraging and commuting bats, breeding birds, 
reptiles (slow worm and common lizard) and key invertebrate species (pollen 
beetle, flea beetle and weevil). Adjacent habitat along the River Taw edge 
also supports wintering birds. Diverse flora has been recorded associated 
with the marshy grassland habitat including southern marsh orchid. 

Ecological mitigation has been built into the design through retention and enhancement 
of the habitats of greatest interest where possible, particularly the site boundaries 
comprising broad-leaved woodland, marshy grassland and tree-lines. The landscape 
scheme includes creation of new habitats to include tree, hedgerow and scrub 
planting, wildflower planting and provision of green roofs, with delivery of public 
open space. All retained, enhanced and created habitats are to be subject to an 
appropriate management regime to ensure continued and successful establishment. 

Bat boxes, bird boxes and reptile hibernacula are to be incorporated within 
the scheme to provide further opportunities for these species. 

Unavoidable loss of habitat will be compensated for with off-site habitat creation of 
broad-leaved woodland, marshy grassland and scrub with appropriate management 
in order to achieve a 10% net gain in biodiversity as result of development. 

2 .  A S S E S S I N G  T H E  C O N T E X T

Page 98

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Plate 1: Hard-standing, amenity grassland and trees

Plate 3: Marshy grassland

Plate 2: Semi-improved grassland and trees

Plate 4: Broad-leaved woodland and scrub

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 27
Page 99

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



v

SEVEN BRETHREN28

This chapter provides an overview of 
community consultation and its influence 
to development. The position of the local 
authority is also outlined in this chapter.

3. INVOLVEMENT

Page 100

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



v

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 29

3.1 THE CONSULTATION PROCESS

On the 11th of July, there were two presentations, one to the 
town council and one to the members. Consultation Panels were 
on display showing the work up to that date, including the site 
analysis, the vision, the landscape strategy and Masterplan. After 
this presentation there was an opportunity for town councils 
and members to ask the consultant team questions. After 
this presentation attendees were asked to submit any further 
queries or comments, they had to North Devon Council.

In the afternoon and into the early evening of the 11th of 
July a Public Exhibition was held, displaying the consultation 
panels. This exhibition was held outside, to the north of the 
North Devon Leisure, the idea being that this location would 
capture some of the users of the Long Stay Car Park, as they 
were likely to walk past the exhibition, the consultant team 
were present to answer any questions and the attendees were 
encouraged to answer a questionnaire on the scheme, if they 
wished to fill this in at home they were given the web address. 
These questionnaires were available for the period of 11th July 
to the 26th July, giving the public two weeks to respond.We 
have meet and followed up with local business when requested.

3.2 OBJECTIVES OF INVOLVEMENT

THE OBJECTIVES FOR INVOLVEMENT FALL 
INTO 3 KEY AREAS AS FOLLOWS:
• Informing
• Participating
• Feeding Back

INFORMING
• Individually notify those who may be affected by the 

proposals of program of events and process of involvement
• Inform representatives from interested groups 

of events and process of involvement
• Ensure adequate publicity of events through local 

newspaper and local leaflet distribution
• Present strategic concepts and principles of the development 

at Pennycross in a concise format without jargon

• Present the background of the broader principles of 
Urban Design and the reforms to the Planning System 
and encourage an understanding of current thinking and 
best practice informing the emerging masterplan

PARTICIPATING
• Employ methods of involvement in design which are 

inclusive at a range of events which are sympathetic 
to availability and accessibile for all parties

• Structure events and the process for involvement, 
such that maximum opportunity is given for 
people to express opinions and ideas

• Allow modification of proposals to reflect 
opinions and ideas expressed at events

• Promote focussed discussion around particular themes to draw 
out ideas and opinions on certain elements of the scheme

• Equip participants for effective participation through 
provision of resources as well as a brief guide to 
the vocabulary of design and planning

FEEDING BACK
• Make a record of events, invitees and participants 

and the process that was undertaken
• Demonstrate understanding and record issues and questions 

raised, how they were responded to and if they were resolved
• Fully consider all parties inputs in the ongoing design process
• Demonstrate modification of proposals according to, 

and following the design collaboration with all parties
• Prepare a summary on the Community Involvement 

process and outcomes with identification of where 
changes to the proposals have responded to this process 
and inform the public that this is available to them

• Provide a fully manned exhibition at a range of times 
and locations which enables all parties to examine the 
worked up proposals at times and places accessible 
and suitable to them in order to validate previous 
input visitors may have had in the process

• Encourage feedback on the worked up proposals by means 
of a comment form submitted at the exhibition or indication 
on a plan/drawing of particular remaining issues

• Inform all parties of the next steps in the planning 
process and how they can continue to respond

• Monitor community response to the formal application.

3 .  I N V O LV E M E N T

Page 101

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Public Consultation

Have your say on our plans for Seven Brethren:

Thursday 11th July 12.00 - 6.30pm 
North Devon Leisure Centre

Northdevon.gov/consultation
Information will also be available online from 
11th July to 26th July 2019.

SEVEN BRETHREN30

3.3  PUBLICITY

The Public Event was advertised in the North Devon Journal and Gazette.
There were also some signs advertising the event placed near the Long Bridge 
Junction, outside the Leisure Centre and within the Long Stay Car Park.

3 .  I N V O LV E M E N T

Above - Leaflet Advertising Event Page 102

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



W E L C O M E 

SITE LOCATION PLAN

Welcome to this exhibition regarding 
potential new housing at Seven 
Brethren Bank.
Over the last decade Barnstaple has been evolving with new 
public spaces and riverside development. Seven Brethren is 
identified in the Adopted Local Plan as a key strategic location 
which has considerable redevelopment opportunities. The area 
has an attractive river frontage setting on the western bank 
of the River Taw, is close to Barnstaple Town Centre, and has 
excellent links with the surrounding area including the Exeter 
– Barnstaple railway line & the National Cycle Network.

We are keen to work with the community to shape 
the development of any proposals and would like 
to invite local residents, businesses and visitors to 
comment and help us shape the emerging plans.

Why are we proposing to develop the Leisure Centre Site 
and Long Stay Car park at Seven Brethren? 

The North Devon Leisure Centre building is no longer fit for purpose and 
will be replaced with a new Leisure Centre next to the Tarka Tennis Centre, 
creating the opportunity for this exceptional site to be redeveloped.

Last year the council was awarded a £2.2m grant from the Government 
Land Release Fund (LRF), introduced to help councils unlock land for 
residential development. The grant will fund flood mitigation work and 
contribute to highway improvements, allowing the council to develop 
the site of the old Leisure Centre and the Long Stay Car Park.

TOWN CENTRE

NEW 
ANCHORWOOD 
DEVELOPMENT

RAILWAY 
STATION

TO A39 BIDEFORD

TO BRAUNTON 
/ ILFRACOMBE

A391

TESCO

EXISTING 
LEISURE 
CENTRE

TARKA TENNIS 
CENTRE

ROCK 
PARK

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 31

Above - Exhibition panels displayed at consultation eventsPage 103

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN32

ANSWERS AND COMMENTS
The first question asked related to the future of the wider 
Seven Brethren area, the most popular response was to 
“improve the Landscape setting of the area as a whole and 
introduce more open spaces. The second most popular response 
was “to create a better relationship with the River Taw”. 

ACTIONS AND RESPONSE
The design of the proposals is based around a landscape 
led scheme, which creates a new river side park and 
therefore improving the landscape setting of the area 
and creating a better relationship with the River Taw.

ANSWERS AND COMMENTS
The second question asked, “what type of affordable homes 
is most needed in Barnstaple?”. The two most popular 
responses were, “small privately-owned open market 
housing, aimed at first time buyers and social rented. 

ACTIONS AND RESPONSE
The scheme includes many smaller privately owned properties 
including, 1 bed and 2 bed apartments and 2 bed town houses, 
which would be suitable for first time buyers. The number of 
social rented properties will be based on the requirements….

ANSWERS AND COMMENTS
The transport options the public would most like 
to see enhanced were bus, by foot and cycle.

ACTIONS AND RESPONSE
Within the proposals the existing cycle and footpath 
is being enhanced and relocated along the river. 

ANSWERS AND COMMENTS

When asked if there were any comments on the water, 
drainage and contamination, most respondents, said 
they had no comments. Any comments that were 
made were mainly concerns over building in a flood 
risk area and creating flood in other areas.

ACTIONS AND RESPONSE 
The planning application includes robust reports demonstrating 
the mitigation measures required to address the sites 
water, drainage and contamination considerations.

ANSWERS AND COMMENTS
When asked what the public would like to see incorporated 
into the new public open spaces, tree planting, wildlife 
friendly planting and seating were the most popular. 

ACTIONS AND RESPONSE
The landscape strategy will make reference to 
incorporating tree planting, wildlife friendly 
planting and seating, based on this feedback.

3 .  I N V O LV E M E N T

3.4 SUMMARY OF COMMENTS 

The following section summarises the questions and comments that 
represented a theme in the consultation process. These were followed up 
with actions and responses that directly influence the development.

Page 104

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 33
Page 105

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN34

This chapter takes into account the assessment 
stage and sets out a concise summary of 
the site’s constraints and opportunities.

4.  EVALUATION

Page 106

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 35

4.1 SUMMARY OF CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES

These proposals provide an exciting opportunity to create a dynamic and progressive 
development setting a precedent for change and regeneration in the Seven 
Brethren Area and Barnstaple as a whole. The overarching opportunities within 
this scheme are to create a better relationship with the River Taw and surrounding 
landscape setting. As well as this main aspiration key opportunities are:

• To create a new river front parkland and generous areas of open space
• Create a gateway into Seven Brethren and the Town Centre
• Improve pedestrian and cycle connections through the site
• Create a development which sensitively transitions between the built 

environment to the north and the open countryside to the south 
• Maximise river views
• Create an attractive, connected and distinctive new 

community where people will aspire to live 
• Orientate buildings to maximise solar gain
•   Build the appropriate housing mix to meet the local area demands, to
 ensure an active and inclusive environment

The key constraints to be considered are:

• The existing Industrial uses near the eastern boundary
• Flood risk
• Contamination
• The protection of key trees on site 

4 .  E V A L U A T I O N

Page 107

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



 Site boundary

 Key gateway building

 Industrial / retail uses

 Flood defence bank

 Sunpath

 Improved cycle and footway along river 
bank

 Existing Sustrans route

 Existing trees 

 Exisitng trees to be retained
 Landscape buffer between residential  

and industrial / retail uses
 Riverfrontage - Great views of the Taw 

river and attractive townscape

 New riverfront residential development

 Low tide area

 High tide area

ROCK 
PARK

THE LONG B
RID

GE
TAW VALE

SEVEN BRETHREN36

Above -  Opportunities Plan Page 108

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



 Site boundary

 Key gateway building

    Adjoining industrial / retail uses

 Industrial / retail uses

 Flood defence bank

 8m offset from flood defences

 Sunpath
 Existing Sustrans route 

 Existing trees

 Trees to be retained

 Improved cycle and footway along river 
bank

 Landscape buffer between residential  
and industrial / retail uses

ROCK 
PARK

THE LONG B
RID

GE

TAW VALE

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 37

Above - Contraints PlanPage 109

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



4.2 RIVERSIDE DESIGN CONCEPTS

The initial masterplan design process started with 
some research into river-front design and testing 
some higher level block structures, with maximising 
river views being one of the main aims .

A few options were tested, (two shown on the opposite page)
Both options show apartment blocks to the north and south 
of the river-front site, with town-houses between. Option 1 
shows a line of properties fronting the river, the advantage to 
this layout is that a large number of properties have direct river 
front views (although behind trees in places), the disadvantage 
of this option is the line of properties fronting the river create 
a wall of development, which means all properties behind 
this, do not benefit from any views to the river. One of the 
constraints of this site’s location is the proximity to existing 
business uses, an additional negative of Option 1 is that the 
line of development parallel to Seven Brethren Bank Road 
fronts directly onto neighbouring business uses, this is also 
the case with Option 2. The design of Option 2 to aims to 
maximise river views, albeit some properties fronting the river 
and other properties with oblique views potentially aided by 
including bay or eyelid windows. The disadvantage of this 
option is the properties fronting the river are set back on the 
western side of blocks, and therefore no properties within 
this option benefit from close and direct views of the river.

After testing these options, it was decided the optimum layout, 
in terms of good urban design, achieving the best relationship 
with the river and minimising the impact of the adjacent 
business uses,  this was a design which arranged the town 
houses into “U” shaped perimeter blocks, fronting the river.

SEVEN BRETHREN38
Page 110

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



 Trees

 Existing Sustrans Route

 Existing Sustrans Route 

 Redline

 Landmarks 

 Residential Buildings

 Leisure Centre

 Low Tide Area

 Hight Tide Area

Option 1 Option 2

REVISION COMMENTSDATE AUTHOR / CHECKED

01752 669368PLYMOUTH
EXETER 01392 444334

L H C    G R O U P
w w w . l h c . n e t

CONTRACTORS MUST CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE. ONLY FIGURED DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE WORKED FROM. DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT BEFORE PROCEEDING.  © THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

TITLE

DETAIL

DATE

DRAWING No.

DRAWING - STATUS

SCALE

REV AUTHOR / CHECKED

Seven Brethren, Barnstaple

Riverfront Design Concepts

10.08.18

16010 L01_04

NTS

- AC/PO

PRELIMINARY

 Trees

 Existing Sustrans Route

 Existing Sustrans Route 

 Redline

 Landmarks 

 Residential Buildings

 Leisure Centre

 Low Tide Area

 Hight Tide Area

Option 1 Option 2

REVISION COMMENTSDATE AUTHOR / CHECKED

01752 669368PLYMOUTH
EXETER 01392 444334

L H C    G R O U P
w w w . l h c . n e t

CONTRACTORS MUST CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE. ONLY FIGURED DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE WORKED FROM. DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT BEFORE PROCEEDING.  © THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

TITLE

DETAIL

DATE

DRAWING No.

DRAWING - STATUS

SCALE

REV AUTHOR / CHECKED

Seven Brethren, Barnstaple

Riverfront Design Concepts

10.08.18

16010 L01_04

NTS

- AC/PO

PRELIMINARY

OPTION 1 OPTION 2

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 39

Above - Initial riverside concept development optionsPage 111

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



4.3 MASTERPLAN   
 DESIGN PROGRESSION 

Similar to the previous masterplan concept ideas, both options 
show a larger, higher element to the north of the site, marking 
the gateway, then blocks of town houses between another larger 
building towards the new leisure centre. The principle behind the 
first option is very similar to the proposed outline masterplan, 
with a landscape led scheme being the main focus. The central 
part of the design intertwines green open spaces with perimeter 
blocks of town-houses.  This scheme proposes vehicular access 
at the back of the properties, dwellings will have a rear garden, 
which will also include parking, and there will be a generous 
front garden, fronting open space.  The huge benefit from this 
arrangement is all proposed town houses either front open 
space or the river, and will have direct or obscured river views. 

The second option has a more structured layout with 
vehicular access and parking at the front of dwellings. 

The preferred option was option 1, given the importance of this 
scheme, in the context of setting a precedent for change and 
regeneration in the Seven Brethren Area, option 1 provides 
an exciting opportunity to create a dynamic and progressive 
development, applicable to its role as an influential regeneration 
scheme within Seven Brethren and within Barnstaple as a whole.

The proposed outline masterplan was then 
shaped by the constraints determined through 
the site investigation and survey work. 

SEVEN BRETHREN40
Page 112

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Long Brid
ge

Long Brid
ge

Tesco Tesco

Rock Park Rock Park

New Location of 
Leisure Centre

New Location of 
Leisure Centre

Tarka Tennis Centre Tarka Tennis Centre

Seven Brethren Bank

Seven Brethren Bank

Masterplan_ Option 1 Masterplan_ Option 2 Scale 1:1500 @A1 Scale 1:1500 @1

N N

Building Heights 

   6 Storeys              4 Storeys               3 Storeys            2 Storeys  

Building Heights 

   6 Storeys              4 Storeys               3 Storeys       

Bed Type Number
1 Coach-House 3
1 Apartment 36
2 Apartment 94
2 Town House 26
2 Maisone�e 42
3 Apartment 5
3 Town House 26

4/5 Town House 23
Total 255

Bed Type Number
1 Coach-House 0
1 Apartment 36
2 Apartment 75
2 Town House 28
2 Maisone�e 42
3 Apartment 5
3 Town House 32

4/5 Town House 22
Total 240

1_Seven Brethren www.lhc.net

Long Brid
ge

Long Brid
ge

Tesco Tesco

Rock Park Rock Park

New Location of 
Leisure Centre

New Location of 
Leisure Centre

Tarka Tennis Centre Tarka Tennis Centre

Seven Brethren Bank

Seven Brethren Bank

Masterplan_ Option 1 Masterplan_ Option 2 Scale 1:1500 @A1 Scale 1:1500 @1

N N

Building Heights 

   6 Storeys              4 Storeys               3 Storeys            2 Storeys  

Building Heights 

   6 Storeys              4 Storeys               3 Storeys       

Bed Type Number
1 Coach-House 3
1 Apartment 36
2 Apartment 94
2 Town House 26
2 Maisone�e 42
3 Apartment 5
3 Town House 26

4/5 Town House 23
Total 255

Bed Type Number
1 Coach-House 0
1 Apartment 36
2 Apartment 75
2 Town House 28
2 Maisone�e 42
3 Apartment 5
3 Town House 32

4/5 Town House 22
Total 240

1_Seven Brethren www.lhc.net

OPTION 1 OPTION 2

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 41

Above - Previous masterplan optionsPage 113

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN42

This chapter summarises the vision, concept, 
and design principles that inform the fixed and 
illustrative proposals, included later in the chapter.

5.  DESIGN

Page 114

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 43

Seven Brethren is a green and 
healthy mixed-use community in 
the heart of Barnstaple, with an 
impressive waterfront location 
and excellent connectivity to 
the North Devon Coast and the 
surrounding region.

Seven Brethen will be a catalyst 
for regeneration in the town and 
set a high standard for future 
development.

ARCHITECTURE AND DESIGN
A modern, contemporary design approach, inspired 
by the best examples of Barnstaple’s historic 
architecture and waterfront character.

WELL CONNECTED 
Seven Brethren is an accessible and connected 
community, only a short walk from Barnstaple 
High Street with sustainable transport 
links including the Barnstaple to Exeter 
railway, the National Cycle Network, and a 
number of public footpaths and routes.

BIODIVERSITY AND GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The scheme, with large expanses of open space 
intertwined between the rows of houses creates 
exceptional opportunities for enhancing biodiversity 
and connecting people with nature.

HEALTHY LIVING 
Leading a healthy life is so simple in Seven Brethren. 
The location creates opportunities for active travel, 
and is easy walking distance from amenities, work, 
retail and education. An abundance of different 
activities can be found on your doorstep, from bike 
rides along the Taw Estuary to swimming in the new 
leisure centre.

GATEWAY TO BARNSTAPLE
A distinctive and exemplary entrance building to 
the north of the site will strengthen this entrance 
into the town, enhancing the setting of the historic 
crossroads, Long Bridge and the Oliver Buildings, 
Anchorwood.

HOUSING FOR THE LOCAL COMMUNITY
High quality design providing a mix of housing 
including affordable housing and retirement living.

5 .  D E S I G N

Page 115

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN44

5 .  D E S I G N

5.1 PLACEMAKING PRINCIPLES

THE FOLLOWING PLACEMAKING AND ACCESS PRINCIPLES 

BELOW WILL ASSIST IN THE DELIVERY OF THE VISION:
The development form will ensure that all buildings and 
the public realm are accessible to everyone, including the 
young, the elderly, the disabled and parents with pushchairs. 
The aim of inclusive design is to remove barriers which 
create undue effort, separation or special treatment and 
enable everyone to participate equally in mainstream 
activities independently with choice and dignity.

Where possible, the proposal will aim to establish clear, 
legible and convenient connections to Barnstaple Town 
Centre pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users.

The proposed development has been carefully designed 
to encourage safe, convenient, direct and attractive 
connections. The following principles are to be applied:

• The creation of a legible development structure
• A network of connected routes, spaces and streets so 

that movements are direct attractive and safe
• Streets designed as places rather than solely in 

response to traffic or engineering considerations
• The design for a ‘walkable neighbourhood’
• The layout of development to encourage low traffic speeds
• Parking for vehicles and cycles will be conveniently located
• The over-arching principle is to provide easy and 

convenient access to public spaces for all users

MOVEMENT, MOBILITY AND ACCESSIBILITY

• Create a clear and legible hierarchy of routes and spaces
• Provide for sustainable transport links with the surrounding area 

including access to bus routes and cycle and pedestrian links
• Provide for an accessible environment for all users

SAFETY AND SECURITY
• The proposals aim to create a sense of community and 

ownership by creating a series of distinct character areas
• Routes will be designed to be as active as possible
• Places, streets and spaces will generally be overlooked

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT

• The accessibility principles seek to maximise permeability 
and connections. It is important that movements by 
pedestrians and cyclists are also safe. For this reason, 
a number of strategic principles shall be applied to the 
development to provide for a safe and secure movement. 

THE UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES ARE AS FOLLOWS:
• Movement routes aim to follow desire lines across and 

through the site and are both direct and legible.
• Segregation between transport modes is to be minimised 

to provide for activity and natural surveillance.
• Footpaths and cycle routes will generally 

be overlooked where possible.
• Underused routes that can become vulnerable 

to, or facilitate crime are to be avoided.
• The development incorporates places and spaces of 

interest. These include focal points within each character 
area as well as landscape features and spaces 

• Key frontages to encourage the use of identified routes.

STRUCTURE
• The types of building and how they are laid out has 

an influence on safety and sustainability.
• A safe urban structure should be provided with active 

street frontages and secure private boundaries helping 
to focus movement on to principal routes.

• Private spaces will largely be enclosed within perimeter blocks.
• Blank facades such as gable ends will 

generally be kept to a minimum.
• Private spaces at the rear of properties should 

be clearly defined and enclosed.
• The boundaries between public and private 

spaces should be clearly defined.
• Rear gardens of houses should, where possible, 

back onto other rear gardens rather than side 
roads, service lanes or footpaths; and 

• Lower barriers, including railings will 
signify the public/private divide.

Page 116

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 45

5 .  D E S I G N

SURVEILLANCE

Overlooking of all open space, including streets, will 
be maximised to discourage crime and antisocial 
behaviour. Particular features will include:

• Windows and doors facing onto the street 
to create an active frontage;

• Spaces designed to minimise the number of 
places to hide and to encourage activity; 

• Play spaces, communal areas and parking 
to be generally overlooked.

OWNERSHIP

The proposals have been designed to promote a sense of 
community ownership, to help foster feelings of respect 
and responsibility. This will be encouraged through:

• Different character areas;
• A clear distinction between public, semiprivate/ 

communal and private spaces;
• Attractive new open spaces;
• Recognisable streets which encourage use and 

personalisation of the street scene.

CHARACTER AND CONTEXT

• Create a development with a clear identity which 
also responds to the character and context, as 
well as the principles of good urban design.

• Develop a ‘character area’ approach to reinforce differences 
across the masterplan and in different parts of the site.

• Provide for a clear landscape and green character within the 
development by incorporating a network of green spaces.

• Incorporate views and vistas to the 
surrounding context, where possible.

• The development should provide for reasonable expectations of 
car ownership and should accommodate car parking in a way 
that does not undermine the character of the development.

QUALITY AND MANAGEMENT OF THE PUBLIC REALM

• Provide for an integrated and multifunctional open 
space network (incorporating play areas, wildlife 
corridors, pedestrian and cycle routes)

• A ‘perimeter block’ principle will generally be 
applied to ensure that public spaces and streets 
are appropriately, defined and overlooked

• Create usable, attractive and well-defined streets and spaces

LEGIBILITY

• The development layout should be easy to 
understand and move around.

ADAPTABILITY, DIVERSITY AND VARIETY

• The development should provide for a 
mix of uses and dwelling types.

 QUALITY BUILT FORM

• Key spaces, places and routes will be defined 
by interesting and varied built form.

• Buildings should be arranged so that they have a clear front and 
back, with the front facing the public realm, where possible.

• The use of appropriate materials and details 
will enhance the quality of built form.

 PHYSICAL PROTECTION

At a detailed level an effective way to prevent property 
crime is to make the property itself as secure as possible. 
However, such security measures will need to be selected to 
avoid compromising the quality of the local environment.

ACTIVITY

The public realm should be designed to be 
enjoyed by a wide range of people. 

Care has been taken to ensure that the mix 
of uses in a locality are compatible.

MANAGEMENT & MAINTENANCE

Quality design throughout the development, including new 
streets, squares and open spaces, together with ongoing 
maintenance will help to promote respect towards the 
environment and therefore increase its use and safety.

Page 117

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN46

5.2 CONCEPT PLAN

The concept plan opposite represents an amalgamation of 
all the design principles set out in the previous section. It 
has also taken account of the constraints and opportunities 
identified earlier within this Design and Access Statement. 
The various elements of the concept plan comprise:

• Residential for approximately 227 dwellings
• High quality housing and a new river front park
• Green links and generous areas of public open space 
• Retention of Existing Vegetation
• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle routes
• A gateway building marking the entrance to the site
• A landscape buffer between the new residential 

area and current adjoining industrail uses 

Page 118

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



ROCK 
PARK

THE LONG B
RID

GE

TAW VALE

 Site boundary

 Key gateway building

 Sunpath
 Improved cycle and footway along river 

bank

 Existing trees 

 Green Space

 Low tide area

 High tide area
 Potential apartment / housing blocks

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 47

Above - Concept PlanPage 119

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN48

5 .  D E S I G N

5.3 THE PROPOSAL

This section sets out the design parameters for 
the elements that will be fixed as part of the 
Outline Planning Permission, comprising:

Land Use and Amount; Access; Scale and the 
Landscape Strategy. These design parameters provide 
a framework for future, more detailed designs.

The Layout

The proposals show a residential scheme of 227 
properties (a combination of town-houses and 
apartments) set within a new river front public park. 

The plan shows how a multi-functional network of green uses can 
permeate the development providing for a development with a 
distinctive character with most dwellings directly fronting green 
spaces. The scheme has been designed to maximise river views.

At the entrance and northernmost part of the site a higher 
building is proposed. The aspiration is that a distinctive and 
exemplary entrance building will mark a key nodal gateway, 
creating a sense of arrival for Barnstaple and the Seven Brethren 
Site. This building will comprise 1,2 and 3 bed apartments, with 
the triangular northern part of the building proposed at a height 
of 6 storeys on the triangular northern part of the building, 
then the south part of the building could reduce to 4 storeys. 
This building will benefit from exceptional river and townscape 
views, the northern most apartments having duel aspect.

The second building has been designed to accommodate 
45 retirement apartments. With parking for both of 
these buildings on the ground floor. The retirement 
building is proposed at a height of 4 storeys. To the south 
of these buildings are some significant London Planes 
trees, these are proposed to be retaining and sit within a 
public open space, forming a natural threshold between 
the proposed apartment blocks and town houses.

The central part of the scheme intertwines green open 
spaces with perimeter blocks of town-houses.  This 
scheme proposes properties that have a rear garden, 
which will include 2 parking spaces, bin / cycle storage 
and a generous front garden, fronting open space.

A 4 storey apartment block is proposed to mark the transition 
between the town houses and the new leisure centre. 

A clear street hierarchy will create routes that are 
easy to find your way around. Additional clear and 
direct pedestrian connections are proposed to create 
a network of routes that are easy to get around.

Page 120

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 49

TESCO

PROPOSED 
RELOCATED 
LONG STAY 
CAR PARK

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

ENHANCED RIVERFRONT 
CYCLE AND FOOTPATH

RETAINED 
RIVERSIDE TREES

PROPOSED FLOOD 
DEFENCE BANK

PARKLAND ‘FINGERS’ IN 
BETWEEN TOWN HOUSES

RETAINED RIVERSIDE TREES

RETAINED TREES

GATEWAY FEATURE BUILDING

Above - Illustrative MasterplanPage 121

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN50

5 .  D E S I G N

5.4 AMOUNT AND USE

Up to 227 dwellings will be provided in total, 
comprising a range of dwelling types.

The proposed mix of uses are as follows; the building in the 
northernmost part of the site comprises apartments, the building 
south of this will provide retirement living accommodation, 
south of this area are proposed town houses. The building 
north of the new leisure centre extension will include 
apartments and opposite this building will be town-houses. 

This mix of dwellings will accommodate a broad range of 
residents. 1 bed apartments will be desirable to first time 
buyers and young professionals looking for a place to live 
in the town centre. This is an excellent location to live, if 
commuting to Exeter, and with enhancements planned for the 
Barnstaple - Exeter line, 1 and 2 bed apartments will cater for 
future commuters.  More young professionals living at Seven 
Brethren will benefit Barnstaple’s night time economy. 

The table below shows the accommodation schedule 
with proposed dwelling types and sizes.

BL
O

C
K

1 B
ED

 A
PA

RT
M

EN
T 

50
m

2 
(G

IA
)  

1b
2p

PO
TE

N
TI

AL
 R

ET
IR

EM
EN

T 
1 B

ED
 A

PA
RT

M
EN

T
60

m
2 

(G
IA

) 1
b2

p

2 
BE

D
 A

PA
RT

M
EN

T 
70

m
2 

(G
IA

) 2
b2

p

PO
TE

N
TI

AL
 R

ET
IR

EM
EN

T 
2 

BE
D

 A
PA

RT
M

EN
T

85
m

2 
(G

IA
) 3

b5
p

D
U

AL
 R

IV
ER

 F
RO

N
TA

G
E

LU
XA

RY
 A

PA
RT

M
EN

T 
95

m
2 

(G
IA

) 3
b6

p

2 
ST

O
RE

Y 
2 

BE
 TO

W
N

 H
O

US
E

70
m

2 
(G

IA
) 2

b3
p

3 
ST

O
RE

Y 
3 

BE
D

 TO
W

N
 H

O
US

E
84

m
2 

(G
IA

) 5
p

3 
ST

O
RY

 (I
N

C 
G

AR
AG

E)
 

4 
 B

ED
 TO

W
N

 H
O

US
E

12
0(

GI
A)

 7p

TO
TA

L

Block 1 5 29 5 39
Block 2 33 12 45
Block 3 10 25 27 62
Block 4 24 24 48
Block 5 15 5 13 33

TOTAL 227

Page 122

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TESCO

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 51

KEY
Development Site Boundary
Apartment Blocks
Retirement Living 
Housing

Block 1

Block 2

Block 3

Block 4

Block 5

Above - Amount and Use PlanPage 123

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN52

5 .  D E S I G N

5.5 SCALE

The length, width & height of buildings will 
define the streets and spaces and reflect their 
importance and thereby assist local legibility.

A hierarchy has been established with respect to the height 
of proposed buildings to achieve a legible structure. 

Marking the gateway into the site, the most northern apartment 
block is proposed to have an element of the building at 6 storeys 
within the northernmost corner and the rest of building is 
proposed as 4 storeys. This higher element will not only mark 
the gateway into the scheme and the wider Seven Brethren 
Area but also the gateway into the town centre from this side 
of the river, this will create a local landmark and nodal feature.

The scale and height of the existing Leisure Centre was 
considered in terms of choosing the appropriate scale and 
massing for the two northern apartment buildings. The section 
below shows the height and mass of the existing Leisure Centre 
and the proposed new buildings. The 6 storey element is not 
hugely higher then the height of the existing Leisure Centre. The 
proposed two apartment buildings will enhance the setting of the 
area, especially the view from Taw Vale across the river, as the 
current existing Leisure Centre is a large voluminous building, 
the proposed apartment blocks are two separate buildings, 
similar in length to the runs of town houses at Taw Vale. 

From the east of the scheme (the Taw Vale side of the River Taw) 
the apartment buildings will read as almost a storey less, this is 
due to the existing ground levels and proposed flood defences.

The town houses are proposed at a height of 2-3 storeys. 
A 4 storey apartment block is proposed between the town 
houses and the new leisure centre. This building and the 
apartment buildings to the north of site will bookend the 
blocks of town houses. The trees in front of this building 
will partially screen and therefore reduce the visual impact 
of this building from the opposite side of the River. 

NDHomes Approved Scheme

21896,18

7.275m

7.74m1

2

3

4

1

2

3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

REVISION COMMENTSDATE AUTHOR / CHECKED

01752 669368PLYMOUTH
EXETER 01392 444334

L H C    G R O U P
w w w . l h c . n e t

CONTRACTORS MUST CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE. ONLY FIGURED DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE WORKED FROM. DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT BEFORE PROCEEDING.  © THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT.

TITLE

DETAIL

DATE

DRAWING No.

DRAWING - STATUS

SCALE

REV AUTHOR / CHECKED

 
Seven Brethren

Illustrative Section Along the River Taw

December 19

18091 LHC D1 XX DR UD 01 07

1.1250 @A3

- AC

PLANNING

Existing Leisure Centre Existing Oliver Building Taw Wharf development (currently under construction)

Page 124

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TESCO

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

KEY
Development Site Boundary
Upto 6 storeys
Upto 4 storeys
Upto 3 storeys

Above - Scale Plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 53
Page 125

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN54

5 .  D E S I G N

5.6 ACCESS AND MOVEMENT

PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE ACCESS
The parameter plan provides for direct and effective movement 
into the site by pedestrians and cyclists following key desire lines 
across the site and around the edges. Key pedestrian and cycle 
connections (identified by yellow arrows on the plan opposite).

The streets within the scheme have been designed with 
pedestrians in mind. The materials proposed will ensure the street 
feels like a shared space, which doesn’t give priority to cars. 

The streets and spaces will be designed to feel private with hard 
and soft landscaping which reinforces this. The spaces within the 
blocks will be private, with no through traffic, this will provide 
a safe environment, encouraging social activities and play. 

VEHICULAR ACCESS
Access to proposed plots will be via the existing 
infrastructure from Seven Brethren Bank.

5.7 PARKING

A variety of different parking approaches have been proposed 
within these proposals. The plan demonstrates 2 parking spaces 
for town houses and 1 space for apartments. Given the site’s 
proximity to Barnstaple’s town centre, local facilities and access 
to public transport, this is considered more then required. 

 The parking is proposed on the ground floor of the apartment 
blocks, within the envelope of the building. Having less cars 
visible will greatly improve the quality of the public realm.  In 
most cases the town houses benefit from two parking spaces on 
plot at the rear of the property.  The units that front the river 
are proposed to have an integral garage and 1 space on plot.

The layout and final parking numbers will be 
subject to a Reserved Matters Application.

Page 126

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TESCO

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

Above - Access and Movement Plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 55

KEY
Development Site Boundary
Safe access / egress routes
Vehicular access to blocks
Vehicular access to flats
Existing vehicular routes
Enhanced cycle / footpath

Page 127

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN56

5.8  WIDER ACCESS AND FUTURE  
 MOVEMENT NETWORK

The access and movement network within these proposals 
have been designed to connect well with the existing 
highway infrastructure of Seven Brethren and also consider 
the future access and movement network of Seven 
Brethren as the area evolves and changes in the future. 

Future development parcels adjoining the site could be designed 
to link with the structure of the proposed blocks, in particular 
the area of town-houses, where new blocks and highway routes 
can align with the green open spaces between the proposed 
town houses to create direct links and views to the River Taw.

The aspiration for the future wider masterplan of Seven Brethren 
will be to create a permeable and clear block structure with direct  
links to the enhanced pedestrian / cycle route along the river. 

5.9 THE PROPOSED LONG 
STAY CAR PARK

This hybrid application includes a detailed element which is 
associated with the re-location of the current Long Stay Car 
Park. The 328 spaces currently located to the south of the 
existing Leisure Centre will be re-provided to the south of 
Tarka Tennis Centre. The short stay spaces will be re-provided 
through the new leisure centre re-location proposals. 

The distance between the existing Long Stay Car Park 
and Barnstaple Square is Circa 550m to the Square. This 
equates at an average walking speed of around 5 minutes. 
The new location of the Long Stay Car Park will be circa 
1k distance from Barnstaple Square. This equates to an 
average walking speed of 10 minutes. The enhanced footpath 
and cycle route along the river will improve this walk and 
will be more pleasant than the current route many people 
take, which is along the Seven Brethren Bank Road.

The new AGP pitches have changed the character of the 
area proposed for the new Long Stay Car Park with more 
people and footfall in this location of Seven Brethren. 
With the proposed residential uses, new Leisure Centre / 
Swimming Pool and  AGP pitches, this southern part of 
Seven Brethren will become more of a destination, which 
the new location of the Long Stay Car Park can support.

Page 128

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TO BRAUNTON 
ILFRACOMBE

RIVER TAW

TO A39 

BIDEFORD

TO A361 SOUTH 
MOLTON

A361

ROCK 
PARK

PROPOSED 
LONG STAY 
CAR PARK

NEW RIVER FRONT 
PUBLIC REALM

TOWN CENTRE

BARNSTAPLE 
SQUARE

BARNSTAPLE 
BUS STATION

NEW PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE

KEY
Development Site Boundary
Safe access / egress routes
Potential future routes
Route from Long Stay CP
Existing vehicular routes
Enhanced cycle / footpath

Above - Future potential access and movement plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 57
Page 129

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN58

5 .  D E S I G N

5.10 PRIVATE / PUBLIC SPACE

The masterplan makes good use of strong perimeter block forms 
to ensure the streets and spaces are safe and not over looked. The 
buildings within the scheme clearly enclose street and spaces. 

Clear delineation between public and private areas will be 
created through the use of materials and boundary treatments. 
The layout has been designed so the properties front directly 
onto open spaces. Public and private spaces will be clearly 
defined with landscaping and boundary treatments, with clear 
vertical markers, such as walls, railings and robust planting.

The triangular apartment block at the north of the site 
will have a higher element and will provide 3 sides of 
frontage overlooking the river, the main route into the 
site and the open space to the south of the building.

Well-articulated buildings on corners will provide 
natural surveillance to ensure the streets and open 
spaces are safe and user friendly, these corner turning 
properties will be designed so that both elevations seen 
from the streets and open spaces have windows.

Bay, oriel, eye lid and corner windows will enable 
opportunities for direct and oblique views up and down 
the streets and overlooking open spaces.  Balconies 
will further increase opportunities for natural 
surveillance and provide views of the River Taw.

5.11 REFUSE STRATEGY

Refuse storage will accord with the NDDC Design Guide 
on Refuse Storage for New Residential Properties, and 
details of the exact location of stores and collection points 
will be determined within a Reserved Matter Application.

Refuse storage will be provided on plot for the town-houses 
throughout the scheme, and within the parking areas, 
on the ground floor of the apartment blocks. Bins will be 
temporarily stored at collections points on bin collection 
day. These collection points must be no further than 25m 
from the nearest point of access for the refuse vehicle. 

The adjacent plan shows potential locations 
for bin storage on collection day.

Page 130

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



TESCO

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

Above - Private and public space plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 59

KEY
Development site boundary
Public / private boundary
Bin storage on collection day

Page 131

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



5 .  D E S I G N

5.12 LAND RAISING STRATEGY 

The plan on the opposite page shows the 
different area which will be raised. 

The required heights are as follows:

- Finished Flood Levels for Residential – 7.74m

- Safe Access/Egress route onto  
 the Public Footpath  – 7.32m

- Flood Defence Levels – 7.47m

To address the contamination issues on site, the area 
proposed for residential use will need to be raised by 
0.6m. This will have a double benefit as raising the ground 
level will help to resolve the flood constraints on site. 

The northernmost area of the site is at the lowest ground level. 
The area where the northernmost apartment block and the 
retirement building are located varies between 4.7m and 6m, 
with the highest area being where the existing leisure centre 
platform is located. The ground floor of both the apartment 
block and the retirement building are proposed as parking 
and therefore not living accommodation, resulting in the 
finished floor levels for residential uses will be well above the 
required 7.74m. Only the area where the safe access / egress 
route is located will need to raised to the required 7.32m.

The area shown in yellow within the plan on the opposite 
page will need to be raised slightly more than the 0.6m 
contamination capping to enable the finished floor levels 
to be above 7.74m. The rest of the site will not need to 
be raised more than the 0.6m contamination capping.

The site sections within this Outline Planning 
Application Package should help demonstrate 
the proposed ground raising strategy.

SEVEN BRETHREN60
Page 132

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



KEY
Development site boundary
Raised to 7.32m
Raised to 7.47m
Raised to 7.47m
Raised by 0.6m
Safe access / egress route

TESCO

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

Above - Ground raising plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 61
Page 133

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



 Pedestrian / cycle connectivity for Anchorwood, Long 
Bridge and Town Centre

 River Taw Edge
• Pedestrian cycle link
• Key trees retained
• Biodiversity enhancement
• Views to River Taw and Rock Park

 Enhanced Pocket Park to Site Entrance
• Public Gardens adjacent to Long Bridge, 

overlooking river.

 Public Park
• Informal amenity spaces
• Tree planting, grass and wildflower meadows
• Play and seating

 Buffer green space and tree planting

 Private gardens to apartments

 Trees to be retained

 Proposed trees and vegetation

 Trees and vegetation to potentially be removed
• A6 & A9 could be replaced with fastigiate oak with 

2m 
maintenance /ecology buffer

• G3-G7 could be replaced with fastigiate oak with 
approximately 10m spacing

SEVEN BRETHREN62

5 .  D E S I G N

5.13 LANDSCAPE STRATEGY

Many of the open spaces will not only benefit the 
residents living within the development but also the wider 
community, through this development the residents of 
Barnstaple will benefit from a new river front park.

The design has been led by a landscape led approach, this 
parkland theme aims to bring forward a residential development 
which sits within generous areas of community open space. A 
network of linked open spaces will be accessible to new residents 
and the existing community. The parkland theme has been 
influenced by Rock Park on the opposite side of the river. 

These proposals will create a green link along the 
River Taw edge between The Long Bridge and 
the countryside south of Seven Brethren. 

The saltmarsh, broad-leaved woodland and mature trees 
within the site that are of local importance will be retained 
and protected as far as possible. This will help to enhance 
the current landscape setting and safeguard ecological 
habits. The landscape proposals include planting more 
trees, hedgerows, plants and large areas of grassland.

A variety of open spaces are provided within the development:

Page 134

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Above - Landscape strategy plan

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 63
Page 135

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN64

5.14 THE LONG BRIDGE PUBLIC SPACE

The Transport Assessment anticipates an offsite contribution 
towards encouraging sustainable modes of transport.  North 
Devon Council; however, would like to explore the possibility of 
an off site solution, which seeks to redesign the Station Road and 
Longbridge junctions.  At the public consultation event for this 
project, the functioning of these junctions for all users was raised 
on a number of occasions.  Furthermore, the Barnstaple Vision 
work recently commissioned by North Devon Council is critical 
of these junctions as a gateway to Barnstaple from the South.  
This area is the ‘front door’ to Barnstaple town centre and 
this project provides the opportunity to deliver a ‘place based’ 
solution to this space, which functions for all users and provides 
an attractive gateway to our town.  The following conceptual 
drawings have been developed.  These would need to be tested.  
It would be anticipated that either an off site contribution 
or designed scheme was secured by way of a Section 106 
Agreement, with the latter being the applicant’s preference.

Page 136

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Above - Artist impression of future Long Bridge Public Space

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 65
Page 137

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



This chapter illustrates the architectural response which we believe 
best responds to the site context and our proposed masterplan.

This approach synthesises inspiration from the surrounding 
historic context and high quality contemporary precedents. 
Feedback from the public consultation also provided a clear 
steer on the type of architecture local residents would prefer to 
see on the site which has been reflected in the proposals.

Underpinning the architectural approach is the landscape led masterplan 
which allows the residential development to sit within generous areas 
of green open space, with the majority of properties benefiting from 
fronting green open space and river views, this relationship between 
the architecture and open space has been a principle consideration, in 
order to achieve high quality and gain best value with the scheme.

The Architectural Design Principles provide additional detail 
to the outline planning application. It is intended to be a site 
specific benchmark and reference for the architectural issues 
that will inform the detailed design of the scheme.

The Architectural Design Principles sets out plot 
parameters for height, scale and massing, colour palettes, 
roofs, doors and windows and landscaping.

The content of the future Reserved Matters planning 
application will be expected to demonstrate how the proposals 
accord with these Architectural Design Principles.

During the public consultation the public were asked for their opinion 
on the type of architecture that they would prefer to see reflected on 
the site. In conjunction with wider contextual analysis, this feedback 
has informed the architectural approach within the Design Code.

Overall, the most popular architectural typology was the formal 
historic regency terrace of Taw Vale, with the most popular 
contemporary example incorporating a vertical emphasis with tall, 
large format openings, a light rendered finish and balconies and 
terraces to maximise views and connections with the wider context.

This feedback is illustrated in more detail in chapter 3.

6.  ARCHITECTUAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES

Page 138

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 67

SUGGESTED ARCHITECTURAL APPROACH ALONG RIVER FRONTING TERRACES

SUGGESTED ARCHITECTURAL APPROACH FOR TERRACES FRONTING PARKLAND FINGERS

Page 139

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN68

6.1 PLOT TYPOLOGIES
THE SITE HAS FOUR PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL HOUSING TYPOLOGIES:

PLOT TYPE A

Formal River Fronting Terraces and Formal Crescent

These units should be a contemporary response to the formal 
(river fronting) Regency townhouse terraces on the opposite side 
of the river, ‘3-11 Taw Vale Parade’ and ‘Union Terrace’.

PLOT TYPE B 
Informal Terraces Perpendicular to River Frontage

These units should be a contemporary response to the historic residential 
terraces on the opposite side of the river which sit behind Taw Vale in much 
narrower, informal streetscapes. These units should take precedent from formal 
Georgian proportions and repetitive elevations but the terrace arrangement 
and aesthetic appearance should be less formal, allowing them to be more 
responsive to views and enjoy a more varied external rendered colour palette.

PLOT TYPE C.1 
Northern Gateway Apartment Building and Retirement Apartment Building

These buildings should take precedent from and respond to the larger 
scale brick developments within Anchorwood, north west of the site along 
the river (notably the Oliver Buildings) and also the larger feature brick 
buildings within the Town Centre and along the eastern riverbank north 
of Long Bridge (notably Barnstaple Museum, Bridge Chambers).

PLOT TYPE C.2 
Southern Apartment Building

As a larger building at the southern end of the site situated amongst the terraced 
plots, this building should respond to the residential terraces through a shared material 
palette, whilst at the same time adopting the façade form and proportions of PLOT 
TYPE C.1. This approach reflects the opposite side of the riverbank where the riverside 
buildings transition from a render dominance in the south, to brick towards the north, 
as illustrated on the panoramic photograph at the bottom of the next spread.

KEY

 A Formal river fronting terraces and formal crescent

 B Informal terraces perpendicular to river frontage

 C1 Northern gateway apartment building

 C1 Retirement apartment building

 C2 Southern apartment building

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 140

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 69
Page 141

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



PLOT TYPE A CONTEXTUAL PRECEDENTS PLOT TYPE B CONTEXTUAL PRECEDENTS

6.2 PLOT TYPOLOGIES

BRICK PREDOMINANCE

SEVEN BRETHREN70

UNION TERRACE

TAW VALE TERRACE GROSVENOR TERRACE

NEWPORT ROAD (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

VIEW OF EASTERN RIVERBANK SHOWING GENERAL TRANSITION OF BRICK TO RENDER BUILDINGS ALONG THE RIVER FRONTAGE (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

TAW VALE TERRACE (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

LITCHDON STREET (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 142

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



PLOT TYPE C.1 & C.2 CONTEXTUAL PRECEDENTS

RENDER PREDOMINANCE

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 71

BRICK BUILDINGS ON THE EASTERN RIVERBANK

OLIVER BUILDINGS TO THE NORTH OF THE SITE CONGREGATIONAL SCHOOL ROOMS

ANCHORWOOD DEVELOPMENT TO THE NORTH OF THE SITE

VIEW OF EASTERN RIVERBANK SHOWING GENERAL TRANSITION OF BRICK TO RENDER BUILDINGS ALONG THE RIVER FRONTAGE (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

BARNSTAPLE MUSEUM

CONTEMPORARY BRICK EXTENSION TO BARNSTAPLE MUSEUM

Page 143

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN72

6.3 PLOT PARAMETERS 
 

PLOT TYPE A - FORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES

ARCHITECTURAL FORM

• All terraces should have taller units in the central section.
• There should be a maximum of 5 taller central units and a 

minimum of 2 lower units either side within each terrace.
• There should be the same number of lower units on each 

end of the terrace, to maintain symmetry.
• The taller central units should be 3 storeys and should sit forward of the lower end units.
• The lower units on the ends of the terraces should be 2 storey or 2.5 storey 

with accommodation within the roofspace and dormer windows.
• Living, kitchen and dining spaces should be on the eastern side of the 

units, benefiting from views of the river and townscape beyond.

ELEVATIONAL TREATMENT

• Elevational treatment should take precedent from the Georgian proportions 
of Taw Vale and Union Terrace, with symmetrical structural openings 
for windows and doors, providing a strong elevational language.

• Elevations should not directly replicate Georgian details 
but reinterpret them in a contemporary way.

• Single storey projecting bays should be used which should be 
a contemporary angular form to maximise views.

• First floor balconies should be used across the terraces. These should be a 
contemporary angular form to reflect the bays below and maximise views.

• Lightweight, crisp and contemporary pergola structures should be used above first floor 
balconies, referencing traditional first floor canopies on Union Terrace and Taw Vale.

PRIVATE EXTERNAL REALM

• Access to the units (both pedestrian and vehicular) should be on the western elevation.
• Garage accommodation should be integral on the ground floor, 

enough for one car, with a second parking space externally.
• Each unit should have a private east facing river fronting garden which will benefit from 

views to the river and historic townscape beyond. This will provide an attractive external 
amenity space for each dwelling, promoting strong connections with the wider landscape.

PLOT TYPE A - FORMAL CRESCENT
The formal crescent should broadly follow the principles set out above but the 
private external realm for this area should provide a more site-specific response.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 144

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Pathway Green finger parkland

Pitched roof

Projecting angled balconies

Private gardens

Contemporary bay projections

Garden boundary wall

Taller central unitsLower end units Lower end units

Contemporary pergola

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 73

PERSPECTIVE VIEW OF SUGGESTED TERRACE FORM FOR PLOT TYPE A
FORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES

KEY

 Taller 3 storey central units

 Lower 2 or 2.5 storey end units

 Private balcony to maximise views

 Private east facing river 
frontage garden

 Views of river and townscape 
beyond from living, kitchen, dining

 Corner unit with angled bay 
projection to minimise views

 Pedestrian access

 Vehichle access to integral

 External parking space

DIAGRAM ILLUSTRATING KEY PLOT PARAMETERS FOR FORMAL TERRACES

Page 145

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN74

6.3 PLOT TYPE B - INFORMAL TERRACES 
PERPENDICULAR TO RIVER

ARCHITECTURAL FORM

• The terraces should be 2 storey or 2.5 storey and could 
include accommodation within the roofspace.

• Terraces should respond to the alignment of the green fingers by stepping 
and angling units to maximise oblique views towards the river frontage.

• Living and/or dining spaces should be facing onto the private 
garden and green parkland fingers beyond.

ELEVATIONAL TREATMENT

• Elevational treatment should take precedent from the smaller scale historic 
residential architecture in Barnstaple’s side streets and streets set back from 
the river (notably Litchdon Street and Grosvenor Terrace, Bear Street). 

• Elevations should not directly replicate historic details 
but reinterpret them in a contemporary way.

• Structural openings for windows and doors should generally appear symmetrical 
and repeated across the terrace to provide a strong elevational rhythm. 

• The stepped terraced units should be set back from 
each other by a minimum of 300mm.

• Projecting bays (1 or 2 storey) should be used which should take a 
contemporary angular form to maximise views towards the river.

• Where single storey bays, first floor balconies should be 
used above the bays. These could be a contemporary angular 
form to reflect the bays below and maximise views.

PRIVATE EXTERNAL REALM

• Access to the units (both pedestrian and vehicular) 
should  be on the courtyard facing elevations.

• 2 external parking spaces should be provided per unit 
except in exceptional circumstances.

• Each unit will have an private garden, facing onto the green landscaped 
fingers and benefit from views towards the riverside.

 
This will provide an attractive external amenity space for each dwelling, 
promoting strong connections with the wider landscape.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 146

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 75

PERSPECTIVE VIEW OF SUGGESTED TERRACE FORM FOR PLOT TYPE B
INFORMAL TERRACES PERPENDICULAR TO RIVER

KEY

 2 or 2.5 storey terrace units

 Private east facing river 
frontage garden

 Views towards river frontage 
through green parkland fingers

 Corner unit with angled bay 
projection to minimise views

 Pedestrian access

DIAGRAM ILLUSTRATING KEY PLOT PARAMETERS FOR  INFORMAL TERRACES

PERSPECTIVE VIEW OF SUGGESTED TERRACE FORM FOR PLOT TYPE B
INFORMAL TERRACES PERPENDICULAR TO RIVER

Pathway

Green finger parkland
Projecting eyelid bay windows

Mansard roof with dormers

Projecting angled balconies

Private gardens

Contemporary bay projections

Garden boundary wall

Parking

Page 147

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN76

6.4 PRIVATE GARDENS FOR PLOT TYPE’S A AND B

• The private gardens of the townhouses should take precedent from 
Union Terrace, the Regency Terrace on the opposite side of the river, 
just along from Taw Vale, Grosvenor Terrace and Bear Street.

• The gardens should back directly onto the Parkland landscape 
fronting the riverside or the green fingers running perpendicular 
to the river between the townhouses terraces. 

• The gardens should feel private whilst feeling 
integrated into the wider green landscape. 

• A contemporary vertical metal balustrade should sit above the low-
level garden wall to form the garden boundary. A hedge should 
be planted just behind the balustrade to enhance privacy. 

• The plots should benefit from a similar relationship to the wider public 
parkland to that shown in the Ebberly Place images opposite.

SUGGESTED PRIVATE GARDEN LAYOUT FOR PLOTS A AND B

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 148

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 77

UNION TERRACE FRONT GARDENS (IMAGE FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

UNION TERRACE FRONT GARDENS

GROSVENOR TERRACE FRONT GARDENS
PLAN SHOWING LOCATION OF PRIVATE GARDENS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP 
WITH THE GREEN PARKLAND FINGERS & PARKLAND RIVER FRONT 

EBBERLY PLACE FRONT GARDENS AND COMMUNAL LAWN EBBERLY PLACE FRONT COMMUNAL LAWN BETWEEN TERRACES

Page 149

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN78

6.5 PLOT TYPE’S C.1 -NORTHERN GATEWAY APARTMENT 
BUILDING AND RETIREMENT APARTMENT BUILDING & 
PLOT TYPE C.2 SOUTHERN APARTMENT BUILDING

ARCHITECTURAL FORM

The scale of the buildings should respond to the precedents 
set by the other larger buildings along the riverbank

• The gateway apartment building at the northern 
end of the site will be 6 storeys tall. The gateway 
apartment building will be the tallest building, clearly 
demarcating the site entrance and responding to the 
larger scale developments further along the river.

• The Retirement Building at the northern end of the 
site will be 4 storeys tall. This building will provide 
a visual transition between the gateway apartment 
building and the townhouse terraces to the south.

• The apartment building on the southern side of the site 
will be 4 storeys tall. This building will sit comfortably 
within the setting of the 2-3 storey townhouses.

• The buildings should respond to the river 
frontage by stepping and angling units to 
maximise both direct and oblique views.

• The apartments should be designed to 
maximise light into habitable spaces.

• The apartments should be designed to ensure 
habitable rooms benefit from views to the 
landscaped green spaces and/or riverside.

• The top floor of each building should step 
inboard to reduce visual impact.

ELEVATIONAL TREATMENT

• Elevational treatment should take precedent from the 
larger scale historic architecture in Barnstaple’s side streets 
and streets set back from the river notably the Oliver 
Buildings, Barnstaple Museum and Bridge Chambers.

• Structural openings for windows and doors should 
generally appear symmetrical and be repeated across the 
apartments to provide a strong elevational rhythm. 

• Balconies should be integrated into the building 
form and should not appear ‘stuck on’. 

• Balconies should take a contemporary angular form to 
maximise views towards the river and/or open green spaces.

PRIVATE EXTERNAL REALM

• Parking should be within the envelope of 
the buildings at ground floor level.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 150

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 79

LARGER BRICK BUILDINGS ON THE OPPOSITE RIVERBANK

BARNSTAPLE 
MUSEUM

OLIVER 
BUILDINGS

BRIDGE CHAMBERS

BRICK GATEWAY INTO THE TOWN CENTRE FROM ANCHORWOOD (EXTRACTED FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

POTENTIAL FOR GATEWAY INTO ANCHORWOOD FROM THE TOWN CENTRE (EXTRACTED FROM GOOGLE STREET VIEW)

RALEIGH WORKS ANCHORWOOD DEVELOPMENT

Page 151

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN80

6.6 EXTERNAL WALLS AND MATERIALS

External wall treatments and materials should reflect and 
reinforce the local character of Barnstaple by drawing 
upon the palette of local building materials, whilst also 
introducing some complementary contemporary materials.

Predominant materials within the town include render, brick 
and stone with render and brick being most prevalent. Render 
is frequently used on 2/3 storey residential buildings and brick 
features on larger or feature buildings e.g. on corner plots. 

High quality materials which are locally 
sourced should be used where possible.

The materials listed below are suggested for external wall 
materials for the buildings (see Section 6.9 ‘External 
Details and Colour Palette’ for more detail).

PLOT TYPE A
Formal River Fronting Terraces and Formal Crescent

• Wall finish - Smooth finish through coloured 
render in white and off-white tones.

• Projecting feature bays - Complimentary light grey 
render, metal or fibre cement cladding panels.

PLOT TYPE B 
Informal Terraces Perpendicular to River Frontage

• Wall finish - Smooth finish through coloured 
render in light pastel colours.

• Projecting feature bays – Complimentary contemporary 
light grey render, metal or fibre cement cladding panels.

PLOT TYPE C.1
Northern Gateway Apartment Building and 
Retirement Apartment Building

• Wall finish – Red/blue multi-brick 
with feature brick patterns.

• Projecting feature bays/ balconies - Complimentary 
contemporary grey metal work/pressings.

• Feature areas across facades - Complimentary 
contemporary grey metal or feature brickwork.

PLOT TYPE C.2 
Southern Apartment Building

• Wall finish - Smooth finish through coloured 
render in white or off-white tones.

• Projecting feature bays/ balconies - Complimentary 
contemporary grey metal work/pressings.

• Feature areas across facades - Complimentary 
contemporary grey metal or fibre cement cladding panels.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 152

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SUGGESTED SCHEME MATERIAL PALETTE

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 81
Page 153

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN82

6.7 ROOF ZONE AND MATERIALS

Roof treatments and materials should reflect and reinforce 
the local character of Barnstaple by drawing upon the 
palette of local building materials, whilst also introducing 
some complementary contemporary materials.

High quality materials which are locally 
sourced should be used where possible.

The roof forms and materials listed within this 
section are suggested for the scheme. 

PLOT TYPE A
Formal River Fronting Terraces and Formal Crescent

ROOF FORMS

The roof forms of these formal contemporary terraces 
should reference those of ‘3-11 Taw Vale Parade’ and 
‘Union Terrace’, on the opposite side of the river.

The 3 storey units within the central section of the terraces 
should have a traditional pitched roof of a suitable pitch for 
slate. There should be no dormers on these central units.

The 2-2.5 storey units at the ends of each terrace 
should have a pitched roof where accommodation is 
not provided in the roofspace, or a mansard roof where 
accommodation is provided in the roofspace. 

Where accommodation is within the roofspace, 2No. 
symmetrical dormers should be provided on the 
front and, if necessary 2no. symmetrical dormers 
or rooflights should be provided on the rear. 

Dormers should sit centrally above the windows/ doors below, 
have flat roofs and a crisp contemporary form and flat roof.

ROOF MATERIALS

• Roof - Natural slate roof tiles
• PV Roof Systems – Should be integrated systems 

or PV roof tiles facing away from the river.
• Dormers – Cheeks should be natural 

slate or standing seam metal.

CHIMNEYS

Traditional chimneys are out of character with the contemporary 
feel to the development and should not be used. Where 
rooftop flues are required, they will line through with the party 
walls of the units and be simple and contemporary in form. 
Flues should be grey metal to match the natural roofslates.

PLOT TYPE B 
Informal Terraces Perpendicular to River Frontage

ROOF FORMS
The roof forms of these informal contemporary terraces will 
reference those historic terraces on the opposite side of the river, 
which sit behind Taw Vale in narrower, informal streetscapes. 

Roofs should be traditionally pitched where 
accommodation is not provided and there should be 
no dormers on these units. Roofs should be mansard 
in form where accommodation is provided.

Where accommodation is within the roofspace, 2No. 
symmetrical dormers should be provided facing the river 
and, if necessary 2no. symmetrical dormers or rooflights 
should be provided on the west facing elevation.

Dormers should sit centrally above the windows/ doors below, 
have flat roofs and a crisp contemporary form and flat roof.

ROOF MATERIALS
• Roof - Natural slate roof tiles or grey standing seam 

metal roof where pitch is not steep enough for slate.
• PV Roof Systems – Should be integrated systems 

or PV roof tiles facing away from the river.
• Dormers – Cheeks should be natural 

slate or standing seam metal.

CHIMNEYS

Traditional chimneys are out of character with the contemporary 
feel to the development and should not be used. Where rooftop 
flues are required, they should line through with the party 
walls of the units and be simple and contemporary in form. 
Flues will be grey metal to match the natural roofslates.

PLOT TYPE C.1 NORTHERN GATEWAY APARTMENT 
BUILDING AND RETIREMENT APARTMENT BUILDING & 
PLOT TYPE C.2 SOUTHERN APARTMENT BUILDING

ROOF FORMS

The roof forms of these contemporary apartments 
should be flat or shallow pitched to minimise visual 
impact and provide a contemporary response.

ROOF MATERIALS

• Roof materials will be appropriate for the roof pitch and 
will be visually complimentary with the wider building.

• PV Roof Systems should be low profile integrated systems.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 154

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 83

 PITCHED ROOF EXAMPLE

MANSARD EXAMPLE WITH COPED 
PARRAPET & CORNICE FIRST FLOOR BALCONYS ACROSS UNION TERRACE

MANSARD EXAMPLE WITH COPED 
PARRAPET & CORNICE PV INTEGRATED WITH SLATES

Page 155

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN84

ISOMETRIC VIEW OF SUGGESTED UNIT FOR PLOT TYPE A 
FORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES AND FORMAL CRESCENT

6.7 ROOF ZONE AND MATERIALS

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 156

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 85

ISOMETRIC VIEW OF SUGGESTED UNIT FOR PLOT TYPE B 
INFORMAL TERRACES PERPENDICULAR TO RIVER FRONTAGE

Page 157

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Muted colours to front doors

SEVEN BRETHREN86

6.8 WINDOWS, DOORS AND DAYLIGHT

• Durable and high-quality window head and sill details should be designed. 
Simple window head details are suggested for second floor windows while 
simple window surround details could be used at ground and first floor.

• Sill and edge details should give consideration to rainwater run 
off to prevent staining and damage to external walls.

• All windows should allow for appropriate daylight and 
ventilation to the room they are serving.

• Windows and doors should have a minimum 100mm reveal 
to give depth and definition to the elevations.

• Eyelid bays and windows should be used on end units to maximise views.
• Windows and doors should have precedent from the Georgian 

proportions of structural opening but the frame and casement 
proportions should be larger in format with a contemporary emphasis.

• Refer to ‘External Details and Colour Palette’ (section 6.9) for more detail.

SIMPLE WINDOW HEAD DETAIL TO UPPER WINDOWS
DORMERS POSITIONED CENTRALL 
ON WINDOWS BELOW

SIMPLE WINDOW SURROUND PROVIDING RELIEF 
INTEREST

EYELID WINDOW CAPTURING VIEWS FROM THE SIDE 
OF BARNSTAPLE MUSEUM

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 158

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 87

UNION TERRACE FACADE SHOWING TYPICAL 
GEORGIAN PROPORTIONS CONTEMPORARY INTERPRETATION OF GEORGIAN PROPORTIONS ON PLOT TYPES A & B.

ELEVATION OF SUGGESTED TERRACE FORM FOR PLOT TYPE A 
FORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES

ELEVATION OF SUGGESTED TERRACE FORM FOR PLOT TYPE B 
INFORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES

Page 159

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN88

6.9 SUGGESTED EXTERNAL 
DETAILS AND COLOUR PALETTE

PLOT TYPE A
FORMAL RIVER FRONTING TERRACES AND FORMAL CRESCENT

RENDER COLOURS
A variety of smooth finish through coloured render in white or 
off-white colours which reflect the light-coloured palette of 
Taw Vale and Union Terrace on the opposite side of the river.
Yellow/cream tones should not be used.
A crisp contemporary finish should be achieved.

PROJECTING FEATURE BAY COLOURS 
Complimentary light grey, metal or fibre cement cladding panels.
A crisp contemporary finish should be achieved.

WINDOWS AND DOOR FRAMES 
Mid grey/muted blue colours to compliment render and bays.
White, dark or natural timber doors and 
window frames are not permitted.

FRONT DOORS
Muted accent colours should be used to highlight front doors.

RAINWATER GOODS AND FASCIAS
Round/square profile powder coated aluminium 
rainwater goods should be used in mid grey/muted 
blue colours to match window and door frames.

METAL WORK
Mid and light tone greys are suggested to complement 
windows and door frames and rainwater goods.
Stainless steel metal work is not permitted.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 160

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 89

PLOT TYPE B 
INFORMAL TERRACES PERPENDICULAR TO RIVER FRONTAGE

RENDER COLOURS
A variety of smooth finish through coloured 
render in light pastel colours.
A crisp contemporary finish should be achieved.

PROJECTING FEATURE BAY COLOURS 
Complementary light grey, metal or 
fibre cement cladding panels.
A crisp contemporary finish will be achieved.

WINDOWS AND DOOR FRAMES 
Mid grey/muted blue colours to complement render and bays.
White, dark or natural timber doors and 
window frames are not permitted.

FRONT DOORS
Muted accent colours should be used to highlight front doors.

RAINWATER GOODS AND FASCIAS
Round/square profile powder coated aluminium 
rainwater goods should be used in mid grey/muted 
blue colours to match window and door frames.

METAL WORK
Mid and light tone greys are suggested to complement 
windows and door frames and rainwater goods.
Stainless steel metal work is not permitted.

Page 161

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN90

6.9 EXTERNAL DETAILS 
AND COLOUR PALETTE

PLOT TYPE C.1 NORTHERN GATEWAY APARTMENT 
BUILDING AND RETIREMENT APARTMENT BUILDING

BRICK FINISH
Red/blue multi-brick with contemporary feature brick patterns 
e.g sections of protruding headers akin to the detailing on 
Barnstaple Museum extension on the opposite side of the river.
A crisp contemporary finish will be achieved.

FEATURE CLADDING AREAS AND PROJECTING BAYS/ BALCONIES
Complementary contemporary grey metal.
A crisp contemporary finish should be achieved.

WINDOWS AND DOOR FRAMES
Grey/muted blue colours to complement 
brickwork and bays/balconies.
White, dark or natural timber doors and 
window frames are not permitted.

FRONT DOORS
Muted Accent Colours should be used to highlight front doors.

RAINWATER GOODS AND FASCIAS
Round/square profile powder coated aluminium 
rainwater goods to be used in grey/muted blue 
colours to match window and door frames.

METAL WORK
Mid and light tone greys are suggested to complement 
windows and door frames and rainwater goods.
Stainless steel metal work is not permitted.

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 162

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 91

PLOT TYPE C.2 
SOUTHERN APARTMENT BUILDING

RENDER FINISH
Smooth finish through coloured render 
in white or off-white colours.
Yellow/cream tones are not permitted.
A crisp contemporary finish will be achieved.

PROJECTING FEATURE BAY COLOURS 
Complementary light grey render, metal 
or fibre cement cladding panels.
A crisp contemporary finish should be achieved.

WINDOWS AND DOOR FRAMES 
Mid grey/muted blue colours to complement render and bays.
White, dark or natural timber doors and 
window frames are not permitted.

FRONT DOORS
Muted Accent Colours should be used to highlight front doors.

RAINWATER GOODS AND FASCIAS
Round/square profile powder coated aluminium 
rainwater goods to be used in mid grey/muted blue 
colours to match window and door frames.

METAL WORK
Mid and light tone greys are suggested to complement 
windows and door frames and rainwater goods.
Stainless steel metal work is not permitted.

Page 163

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



SEVEN BRETHREN92

6.10 SUSTAINABILITY AGENDA
HOW DESIGN OF THE DEVELOPMENT WILL BE SUSTAINABLE 
E.G. MATERIALS SELECTED / MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 

The general aspiration is for the scheme to be 
sustainable, and to have fabric first, efficient low 
energy buildings. Sustainable materials and sustainable 
specification which could be incorporated include:

• Solar panels

• Timber specification

• Rainwater harvesting

• Ground source heating

• District heating

• High specification installation

• Solar shading

• High specification glazing

6 .  A R C H I T E C T U R A L  D E S I G N  P R I N C I P L E S

Page 164

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT 93

6.11 ILLUSTRATIVE ARTIST IMPRESSION OF PROPOSALS

Page 165

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



Offices

The Design Studio
Emperor Way
Exeter Business Park
Exeter Devon EX13QS
01392 444334

The Design Studio
Guardhouse
Royal William Yard
Plymouth Devon PL1 3RP
01752 669368

Rm 217
Advent House
Station Approach
Victoria, Cornwall PL2 68LG
01726 213435

Page 166

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A



REV DATE COMMENT AUTH/CHCKD

STATUS DESCRIPTIONSTATUS

DATE SCALEREVISION

PROJECT TITLE

DETAIL

LHC PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWING NUMBER (ORIGINATOR-ZONE-LEVEL-TYPE-ROLE-NUMBER)

CONTRACTORS MUST CHECK A LL D IMENSIONS O N SITE. O NLY 
FIGURED DIMENSIONS A RE TO BE W ORKED FROM. D ISCREPANCIES 
MUST B E REPORTED T O THE ARCHITECT BEFORE PROCEEDING 
© THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT

01752 669368
PLYMOUTH

07812 986220
ST AUSTELL

01392 444334
EXETER

lhc.net

Seven Brethren

Indicative Masterplan

18091 LHC-D1-XX-DR-UD-01.02

-

PLANNING

14/11/19 1:1250@A1

18091

S T AT I O
N

 R
O

A
D

T A W  V A L E

R O C K 
P A R K

ENHANCED RIVERFRONT 
CYCLE AND FOOTPATH

RETAINED 
RIVERSIDE TREES

PROPOSED FLOOD 
DEFENCE BANK

PARKLAND ‘FINGERS’ IN 
BETWEEN TOWN HOUSES

RETAINED RIVERSIDE TREES

RETAINED TREES

GATEWAY FEATURE BUILDING

TESCO

PROPOSED 
RELOCATED 
LONG STAY 
CAR PARK

TARKA 
TENNIS 
CENTRE

NEW LEISURE 
CENTRE & 

SWIMMING 
POOL

NEW AGP 
SPORTS 
PITCHES

Page 167

Agenda Item 11
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2020 (attached).
	7 Performance and Financial Management Quarter 1 of 2020/21
	2020.09.01 Q1 Perf and Fin Mgmt Appendix A
	2020.09.01 Q1 Perf and Fin Mgmt Appendix B
	2020.09.01 Q1 Perf and Fin Mgmt Appendix C
	2020.09.01 Q1 Perf and Fin Mgmt Appendix D
	2020.09.01 Q1 Perf and Fin Mgmt Appendix E

	8 Treasury Management Annual Report 2019/20
	9 Approval and Release of Section 106 Public Open Space Funds - South Molton and Combe Martin
	10 Urgent Decisions Taken by the Chief Executive
	11 Seven Brethren - Agreeing a Way Forward
	2020.09.01 Seven Brethren Appendix A Design and Access Statement
	2020.09.01 Seven Brethren Appendix B Illustrative Masterplan


